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13 YEARS OF  
CONSECUTIVE GROWTH
5 shopping centres in prime locations  
326 900m2 of lettable area under management
R5,6 billion market capitalisation 
R6,7 billion total portfolio value
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NATURE OF BUSINESS

Hyprop is a professionally managed JSE-
listed property loan stock company specialising  
in prime shopping centres which account  
for 94% of its total investment property. 
Hyprop provides investors with access to 
quality retail ownership and distributes all  
its income on a semi-annual basis.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

Hyprop focuses on premium retail property 
investments providing investors with sustained 
income and capital growth. The group is committed 
to delivering superior investment returns through  
active asset management. 

Hyprop will continue to target new investment 
opportunities that will contribute to long-term 
growth in the portfolio while disposing of non-
strategic assets.

Registered office and business address
3rd Floor, North Block, Hyde Park Shopping Centre

Jan Smuts Avenue, Sandton 2196
PO Box 41257, Craighall 2024

Tel: +27 11 325 4340
Fax:+27 11 325 5196

Website: www.hyprop.co.za

Registration number: 1987/005284/06

Company secretary
Probity Business Services (Proprietary) Limited 

3rd Floor, JHI House, 11 Craddock Avenue, Rosebank 2196
PO Box 85392, Emmarentia 2029

Independent auditors
Grant Thornton (Member firm of Grant Thornton International)

137 Daisy Street, cnr Grayston Drive
Sandton 2196

Private Bag X28, Benmore 2010

Corporate advisors and sponsors
Java Capital (Proprietary) Limited

2 Arnold Road, Rosebank 2196
PO Box 2087, Parklands 2121

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Proprietary) Limited

Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg 2001

PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107

Trustee for debenture holders
Webber Wentzel Bowens

10 Fricker Road, Illovo Boulevard
Johannesburg 2196

PO Box 61771, Marshalltown 2107

Commercial bankers
The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited
1st Floor, 30 Baker Street, Rosebank 2196 

PO Box 8786, Johannesburg 2000 

ABSA Bank Limited
Palazzo Towers West, Monte Casino Boulevard

Fourways 2055
PO Box 782991, Sandton 2146 

ADMINISTRATION

Canal Walk, Century City Cape Town
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IBC Administration

“the board” - The board of directors of Hyprop Investments Limited 
“Canal Walk” - Canal Walk Shopping Centre 
“Canal Walk Manco” - Canal Walk Management Company (Proprietary) Limited 
“the current year” - The year ending 31 December 2007
“Freestone” - Freestone Property Holdings Limited
“GLA” - Gross lettable area
“The Glen” - The Glen Shopping Centre 
“The Grace” - The Grace Hotel and Offices
“the group” - Hyprop Investments Limited, its subsidiaries and associates 
“HDI” - Historically disadvantaged individual
“Hyde Park” - Hyde Park Shopping Centre
“Hyprop” or “the company” - Hyprop Investments Limited 
“Hyprop Manco” - Hyprop Management Company (Proprietary) Limited 

“King II Report” - King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2002
“Madison” - Madison Property Fund Managers Limited
“The Mall” - The Mall of Rosebank
“PLS” - Property loan stock
“the previous year” - The year ended 31 December 2005
“SA” - South Africa
“SA Retail” - SA Retail Properties Limited
“SENS” - Securities Exchange News Service
“Southcoast Mall” - Southcoast Mall Shopping Centre
“Stoneridge” - Stoneridge Shopping Centre
“the year” or “the year under review” - The year ended 31 December 2006
“Vunani Properties” - Vunani Properties (Proprietary) Limited
“VPIF” - Vunani Property Investment Fund

DEFINITIONS
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FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS

for the year ended 31 December 2006

DISTRIBUTION PER COMBINED UNIT UP 18.4%
PRE-TAX NAV R39,63 PER COMBINED UNIT UP 34%

MARKET CAPITALISATION R5,6 BILLION
TOTAL RETURN 36.3%

13 YEARS UNINTERRUPTED DISTRIBUTION GROWTH

       2006 2005

Revenue (R000)    738 381  635 041 

Net property income (R000)    539 262  444 631 

Net operating income (R000)    403 643  315 732 

Long-term loans at year-end (R000)    1 135 748  1 125 911 

Debt-to-open market value ratio (%)*    17  21 

Total combined units in issue at year-end    144 369 188  143 137 272 

Distribution per combined units (cents)    225.0  190.0 

Increase in distribution per combined unit (%)    18.4  16.6 

Net asset value per combined unit (R)     31.29  24.12 

Net asset value per combined unit excluding deferred taxation (R)    39.63  29.53 

Closing combined unit price (R)    38.50  29.90 

Pre-tax net asset value premium / (discount) to closing unit price (%)   2.9  (1.2)

Vacancy factor (% of lettable area)    1.1  2.7 

Gross collections (rental income and recoveries) (R000)   630 285  571 503 

Management fees (asset management and property management)  (R000)  43 663  32 608 

Management fees as a % of gross collections    6.9% 5.7%

* Market value excludes minority interests  

Hyprop Investments Limited - Financial Highlights



 Retail GLA - 122 750 m2

 Number of stores - 400

 Office GLA - 9 566 m2

 Number of parking bays - 6 994

 Footcount 2006 - 20 367 719

 Turnover growth pa - 12%

CANAL WALK - Century City Cape Town

Regarded as the premier shopping centre  

in the Western Cape, this super-regional 

centre is situated in the fast growing Century 

City precinct directly accessible from the  

N1 national highway.
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Hyprop Investments Limited 

INTRODUCTION
2006 was an outstanding year for Hyprop marking the fund’s third consecutive year of 
incremental growth in distributions off a high base of over 16%. The board is pleased 
to report a total return to investors of 36,3%.  

The company has assembled a portfolio of the highest quality shopping centres,  
providing the basis for sustainable superior income and capital growth which would 
be very difficult to duplicate in current market conditions. Hyprop’s ongoing efforts  
to sustain and enhance the quality of its shopping centres for both retailers and  
shoppers has resulted in low vacancies and strong customer spend. Flagship centre 
Canal Walk is today one of the leading shopping centres in Africa and attracted a 
record number of customers during 2006.

With the disposal of most of its office buildings Hyprop can now focus more closely 
on its shopping centres, which in 2006 provided 86% of the company’s investment 
property income. Hyprop intends to utilise its strong balance sheet for long-term 
growth of the portfolio. 

During the year Hyprop saw a change in the structure of its asset management 
company with Madison listing on the JSE in May 2006. As one of the largest property 
asset managers in SA, Madison will provide Hyprop with quality entrepreneurial skills 
and experience supported by a wide range of management resources. In addition 
this move further improved corporate governance at Hyprop. Previously the majority 
of directors on the Hyprop board were also directors of Hyprop Manco, the former 
management company, creating a potential conflict of interests. With Madison as the 
new asset manager, all except three of Hyprop’s directors are now independent of the 
management company.

THE MARKET
There were concerns at the start of the year that increasing interest rates and yields 
would negatively impact consumer confidence to reduce retail spend and adversely 
affect Hyprop’s retail portfolio. These proved to be unfounded.  

Notwithstanding the sharp downward movement of the JSE in May, it became evident 
that the economy could accommodate the incremental interest rate increases.  
Hyprop’s unit price, as well as those of other listed property companies, soon recovered 
reflecting a reasonable gain by the end of the year. The listed property sector showed 
itself to be robust and buoyant over this period.

DISPOSAL OF INVESTMENT IN SA RETAIL
Subsequent to year-end, Hyprop concluded an unconditional agreement to dispose  
of its investment of 108 097 051 linked units in SA Retail to the Public Investment 

CEO’S & 
CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

Peter Kirchmann - Chairman



Investment property was independently valued by Old Mutual Properties 

(Proprietary) Limited using the discounted cash flow method. The value 

of investment property increased by R1,5 billion or 27% to R6,7 billion. 

The significant increase in the property value is attributed to growth in 

net income together with improvements in property yields. Further, the 

board considers the 27% increase in value conservative in light of the 

prime quality of the portfolio. 

BORROWINGS
At 31 December 2006 borrowings amounted to R1,1 billion of which 79% is 

fixed for periods exceeding three years at an average interest rate of 9,8% 

(2005: 10,1%). Subsequent to the repayment of debt from the proceeds of the 

SA Retail disposal, Hyprop will have minimal debt and a borrowing capacity 
of approximately R3 billion.

INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE
Hyprop recorded its 13th consecutive year of distribution growth with 
an average annual growth rate of 9,4% since listing in 1988. Hyprop’s 
market capitalisation increased by 30% to R5,6 billion at year-end with 
the unit price rising by 29% from R29,90 on 1 January 2006 to R38,50 at 
31 December 2006. The 43,6 million units traded during the year equate 
to 30% of the total units in issue.

Hyprop has recorded strong growth in its unit price over the last three years, 
significantly outperforming both the PLS index and the All Share Index 
(“ALSI”) relative to the prices as at January 2004.

Hyprop Investments Limited

Corporation Limited at a consideration of R10,50 per linked unit, totalling R1,135 billion. Hyprop will earn interest on the sale price at 9% per annum from  
1 October 2006 until the payment date, which is expected by end April 2007.

The proceeds from the disposal will be utilised to repay existing debt, which combined with the interest earned on the sale price will be distributions  
enhancing.

BEE
The establishment of VPIF together with Vunani Properties in October 2006 marked a significant step in Hyprop’s strategy to achieve sustainable 
transformation. The focus of this BEE initiative is enterprise development in terms of the Property Transformation Charter. VPIF’s investment property 
portfolio consists of 18 mainly commercial buildings which were valued at R524 million at year-end. Vunani Properties owns 50.2% of VPIF and Hyprop 49.8%.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
Hyprop achieved distribution growth of 18,4% per combined unit for the year. The distribution of 225 cents per combined unit is a result of strong contractual 
and turnover rental growth, strict expense control and reduction in interest rates.

A property revaluation surplus of R1,5 billion and the issue of 1 231 916 combined units to acquire linked units in SA Retail together resulted in a 30% 
increase in combined unitholder funds to R4,5 billion.

Significant growth in the value of investment property resulted in an increase in net asset value per combined unit of 30% to R31,29. Excluding deferred 
taxation, the net asset value per combined unit is R39,63, a 2,9% premium to the closing unit price on 31 December 2006 of R38,50.

VALUATIONS
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     TOTAL VALUE

        Value

     Rentable   attributable to Value per 
     area 2006 2005 Hyprop rentable area

Business segment  m2  R000 R000 R000 R/m2

Canal Walk  132 316 3 250 000 2 500 000 2 600 000 24 562

The Glen  51 464 1 117 000 830 700 839 426 21 704

Hyde Park                    37 102 920 000 725 000 920 000 24 797

The Mall                     33 774 700 000 537 400 700 000 20 726

Southcoast Mall                    27 642 274 000 206 300 137 000 9 912

Stoneridge*   57 832  57 832 

Shopping centres  282 298 6 318 832 4 799 400 5 254 258 22 384 

Offices   44 604 343 360 449 800 343 360 7 698

Investment property  326 902 6 662 192 5 249 200 5 597 618 20 380

Listed property securities   1 135 019 951 074 1 135 019 

      7 797 211 6 200 274 6 732 637    

*Valued at cost as the centre is currently under construction.
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Lease expiries

        Vacancy 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011+

     % % % % % %

Canal Walk
Income    9 12 13 39 27
Area    1  7 9 8  39 36 

The Glen
Income    11 27 17 13 32
Area     9 21 14 10  46 

Southcoast Mall
Income    2 14 5 47  32
Area    6 1  9  5 33 46 

Hyde Park
Income    26 17 19 7 31
Area     22 16 18 3 41 

The Mall
Income     22 16 23 13 26
Area    1 28  12 18 10 31 

Shopping centres
Income     13 16 16  26 29
Area                1 11  13  11  24 40

Offices
Income    46 8 24 15  7
Area                1 42  11 26 13 7 

Total
Income    16 16 16 25 27
Area    1 16 12 13 23 35 

 Available for letting by GLA

     31 DECEMBER 2006 31 DECEMBER 2005

      m2 % m2 %

Canal Walk   1 305 1.0 3 751 3.1

The Glen     253 0.5

Hyde Park                       

The Mall                  297 0.9 399 1.2

Southcoast Mall                   1 560 5.6 2 461 8.9

Shopping centres   3 162 1.1 6 864 2.6

Offices    277 0.6 2 486 2.8

Total    3 439 1.1 9 350 2.7

During the year 35 553 m2 of rentable area (10,3 % of the portfolio) was renewed of which 14 320 m2 was in retail at an average contractual escalation of  
9.3%. The balance of 21 233 m2 was in offices at an average contractual escalation of 6.5%.  

In addition 25 513 m2 of rentable area (7,4% of the portfolio) was let to new tenants, of which 13 101 m2 was in retail at an average contractual escalation 
of 9.3% and 12 412 m2 was in offices at an average contractual escalation of 9.5%.   

Hyprop Investments Limited - CEO’s & Chairman’s Report

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

INVESTMENT 
PROPERTY INCOME
During 2006 the group again focused on delivering sustainable income growth to investors in line with its successful track record. Robust contractual and 
turnover rental growth as well as improved expense control contributed to the increase in shopping centre net property income. On a like-for-like basis net 
property income increased by 12,7% and the expense-to-revenue ratio reduced from 24% to 22%.

VACANCIES
Continued favourable trading conditions for retailers in 2006 drove demand for retail space. Management proactively capitalised on these conditions to 
maintain high occupancy levels and improve the tenant mix.

08 | Annual Report  Hyprop Investments Limited - CEO’s & Chairman’s Report 
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The investment property portfolio has exposure to over 893 retail and 173 
office tenants. The top ten retailers in the portfolio represent 32% of the 
income and 50% of the rentable area. No single retailer occupies more than 
8% of the rentable area providing Hyprop with a well diversified and secure 
rental income stream.

DEVELOPMENTS
Hyprop actively focuses on investment opportunities in both its existing 
portfolio and in the market at large. The company is currently undertaking 
the following developments:

STONERIDGE 
In October 2006 Hyprop began construction of Phase 1 of Stoneridge in 
Greenstone Park, Modderfontein. The 50 000 m2 lifestyle centre, estimated 
to cost R544 million with an expected initial return of 9%, is scheduled for 
completion in October 2008. Hyprop will own 90% and the developer, Abland 
(Proprietary) Limited, 10%.

CANAL WALK
(80% undivided share)
The upgrade and leasing of the outdoor restaurant area, La Piazza, was  
completed in December 2006 at a cost of R11,6 million (R9,3 million for  
Hyprop), yielding an initial return of 14%.

Construction of a 3 500 m2 Mr Price Home store has commenced at a cost 
of R32,3 million (R25,6 million for Hyprop). This project is scheduled for 
completion in November 2007 with an expected initial return of 13%.

Negotiations are in progress for the acquisition of approximately 16 000 m2 

of rights, subject to local authority approval, to develop additional retail 
space.

THE GLEN 
(75,15% undivided share)
The 2 200 m2 extension to the Edgars store and construction of additional 
parking at a combined cost of R18 million (R 13,5 million for Hyprop), and at 
an initial yield of 10.5%, is nearing completion.

Application has been made for an additional 10 000 m2 of retail rights in 
respect of which a decision by the local authority is expected by June 2007.

SOUTHCOAST MALL
(50% undivided share)

Undeveloped land located at the entrance to the centre was acquired during 
the year at a cost of R6,7 million (R3,35 million for Hyprop) on which a 
service station, free-standing retail outlets and motor dealerships will be 
developed.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM
One of Hyprop’s key advantages has been the ability to maintain a stable 
and experienced management team. The knowledge and experience of the 
senior executives is an important factor in ensuring that each team within 
the group executes its strategy successfully. 

See ‘Senior Management’ for further details of the individual senior executives. 

FUTURE PROSPECTS
Hyprop will continue to focus on income growth through proactive 
management of tenant mix to ensure strong rental escalations, while at 
the same time investing capital in existing centres and new development 
opportunities. 

The board anticipates that Hyprop’s distribution per combined unit for the 
year ending 31 December 2007 will, subject to market conditions remaining 
stable, increase by 12% to 15% relative to the distribution for 2006. This 
forecast has not been reviewed or reported on by Hyprop’s auditors.

WORD OF APPRECIATION
We would like to thank the board of directors for their continued guidance 
and Madison for its considerable contribution and important role in the 
success of the company. We also wish to thank all advisors and service 
providers for their dedication and invaluable support in ensuring Hyprop’s 
ongoing growth. 

Pieter Prinsloo
CEO

I would like to thank and congratulate CEO Pieter Prinsloo, his executives and 
staff for an excellent performance in 2006. This will be my last Chairman’s 
Report as I am retiring as Chairman and director this year. I am proud to 
have been involved since 2001 in the superb growth of our company which I 
attribute largely to  Pieter, his executives and my fellow board members.

Peter Kirchmann 
Chairman 
Johannesburg
1 March 2007

Tenant profile

            % of total % of total shopping
Tenant      Rank GLA centre income

Edcon      1 8 6

Pick ‘n Pay      2 8 3 

Woolworths     3 6 4

Shoprite Checkers      4 5 2 

Nu Metro     5 4  2

Foschini      6 4 5 

Stuttafords     7 4 2

Truworths     8 3 3

Pepkor       9 3 3

Mr Price Group      10 3 3 

         48 33

08 | Annual Report  Hyprop Investments Limited - CEO’s & Chairman’s Report 



Situated on the corner of Jan Smuts Avenue 

and 1st Road in an affluent northern suburb 

of Johannesburg, the centre boasts a unique 

collection of top speciality stores, many of 

which are exclusive international brands.

 Retail GLA - 27 551 m2

 Number of stores - 130

 Office GLA - 9 551 m2

 Number of parking bays - 1 757

 Footcount 2006 - 5 145 557

 Turnover growth pa - 9%

HYDE PARK - Johannesburg

������������������������



       Cost of   
      GLA properties^ Fair value^ 

Date of acquisition
Property description Location  m2 R000 R000 or development

Shopping centres       

80% undivided share in Canal Walk* Century City, Cape Town  132 316 953 049 2 600 000 Oct 2003

75,15% undivided share in The Glen  Oakdene, Jhb  51 464   345 274   839 426  #

Hyde Park* Hyde Park, Jhb  37 102   265 520   920 000  Pre-listing 1988

The Mall Rosebank, Jhb  33 774   328 278   700 000  Jan 2003

Southcoast Mall Shelly Beach, KZN  27 642   97 940   137 000 2005

Stoneridge Greenstone Park, 
    Modderfontein    57 832   57 832  Mar 2006

Total - shopping centres    282 298   2 047 893   5 254 258   

Offices       

Morning View Office Park  Morningside, Jhb  10 948   38 583   73 760  1992

         Included 
       with 
JHI House Rosebank, Jhb  17 585 The Mall   132 000    Jan 2003

Atholl Ridge  Sandton, Jhb   8 578   60 848   91 600    Mar 2001

The Grace Rosebank, Jhb   7 493   33 066   46 000    May 2003

Total - offices    44 604   132 497   343 360   

Total - portfolio    326 902   2 180 390   5 597 618   

Reconciliation to investment property note to the balance sheet  

Fair value at year-end as above      5 597 618  

Investment property held in Morningside Viewsites Share Block (a wholly-owned subsidiary)   (35 700)  

Investment property held at cost~      (61 182)  

Independent valuation at year-end per note 2.3     5 500 736

* Includes office component

^ Excludes minority interest

# The 75,15% undivided share in The Glen was acquired on the following dates:

 - 33,33% in December 2001

 - 16,77% in September 2002

 - 25,05% in October 2004

~ Comprises Stoneridge and a portion of undeveloped land at Southcoast Mall       

Hyprop Investments Limited - Investment Properties Owned Annual Report | 11    
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INVESTMENT 
PROPERTY OWNED
at 31 December 2006 



Hyprop Investments Limited - Corporate Governance
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The directors remain committed to sound corporate governance processes as contained in the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct set out in the King 
II Report. The board is responsible for continually monitoring compliance to ensure ongoing improvement of operational and corporate practices in this 
regard.

THE BOARD
STRUCTURE
In accordance with the King II Report the board comprises a majority of non-executive directors, of whom four are classified as independent. Attendance at 
board and committee meetings for the year is set out below. The number in brackets reflects the total number of meetings held during the year:

Meetings attended

           Audit Remuneration Nomination 
        committee committee committee 
      Board meetings  meetings meetings meetings

      Ordinary Special   

Directors

MS Aitken†  4 (4) 3 (3)  2 (2) 2 (2)

WE Cesman*  4 (4) 3 (3) 3 (3) 2 (2) 2 (2)

LR Cohen (Financial Director) (appointed 1 December 2006)  4 (4)> 3 (3)> 3 (3)>  

EG Dube*  3 (4) 2 (3)  1 (1) 2 (2)

PF Kirchmann (Chairman) †^~  4 (4) 3 (3)  2 (2) 2 (2)

JR McAlpine†  4 (4) 3 (3)  1 (1) 2 (2)

PG Prinsloo (CEO)  4 (4) 3 (3) 3 (3) 1 (1) 

S Shaw-Taylor*#  4 (4) 2 (3) 3 (3) 1 (1) 

MY Sibisi† (appointed 1 December 2006)  N/A N/A   

PJ Thurling* (alternate to MS Aitken from  
1 December 2006)   4 (4) 3 (3) 3 (3)  

M Wainer*  4 (4) 3 (3)   

SV Webb* (resigned 1 December 2006)  4 (4) 3 (3)   

LI Weil*   4 (4) 3 (3)   

* Non-executive ^ Chairman remuneration committee ~ Chairman nomination committee 
† Independent non-executive #  Chairman audit committee > Attended by invitation

The capacity of the directors at the date of this report may be categorised 
as follows:

Executive directors: Pieter Prinsloo (CEO) and Laurence Cohen (Financial 
Dircetor) are salaried employees of Hyprop Manco and are responsible for the 
day-to-day operations of the group. Effective 1 March 2007 Pieter Prinsloo 
will become a salaried employee of Hyprop while Laurence Cohen will be a 
salaried employee of Madison.

Non-executive directors: Wolf Cesman; Ethan Dube; Stewart Shaw-Taylor; 
Marc Wainer and Les Weil, in accordance with Hyprop’s policy, represent 

at board level significant combined unitholders, suppliers to and associates 
of Hyprop.

Independent non-executive directors: Peter Kirchmann (Chairman); Michael 
Aitken; Roy McAlpine and Khosi Sibisi are neither significant combined 
unitholders in, nor suppliers to Hyprop and are regarded as independent.

Alternate directors: Peter Thurling, Michael Flax and Janys Finn are alternate 
directors to Michael Aitken, Marc Wainer and Wolf Cesman, respectively. 

The roles of Chairman and CEO have been strictly separated. The independent 
non-executive Chairman and fellow non-executive directors contribute a 

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE
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wide range of skills and expertise, all with extensive property experience in 
common.

The board meets at least four times per year with additional board meetings 
convened when required. In addition, four asset management meetings are 
held and attended by the majority of the members of the board.

The board is governed by a formal Board Charter which sets out its roles 
and responsibilities and deals with procedural matters ranging from board 
meetings through board composition and processes, to remuneration and 
annual evaluation of performance.

All directors have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the 
company secretary and to company records, information and documentation. 
Non-executive directors also have access to management at any time. 
All directors are entitled, at the company’s expense, to seek independent 
professional advice on any matters pertaining to the group where it is 
deemed necessary.

PROCESSES

DIRECTOR RE-ELECTION  
AND APPOINTMENT
No director holds a fixed-term contract of employment of any duration. As set 
out in the articles of association, directors retire every three years and being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting. 
Hyprop’s board of directors comprises experienced directors. However, should 
a new appointee have no previous board experience, Hyprop management 
and the company secretary are responsible to ensure adequate induction 
training supported by the Institute of Directors of South Africa. An informal 
induction programme is in place which includes introductions to key senior 
management, site visits, an overview of board processes and procedures 
as well as copies of the most recent financial results. In accordance with 
the company’s articles of association, the appointment of new directors is 
confirmed by combined unitholders at the next annual general meeting 
following the appointment.

SUCCESSION 
PLANNING
While the board is cognisant of the need for a formal succession planning 
strategy, it is confident that the depth of skill on the board meets current 
succession requirements. Madison, to which Hyprop outsources its asset 
management, is a well established leader in the property industry with a 
depth of resources to succeed senior management should the need arise.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
AND SHARE DEALINGS
Directors are required to disclose their unitholdings, additional directorships 
and any potential conflicts of interest to the Chairman and the company 
secretary who, together with the sponsor, ensure that any share dealings 
and other required information are published on SENS. In addition, directors 
and senior employees likely to have access to the company’s financial 
results and other price-sensitive information, are prohibited from dealing in 
Hyprop’s combined units for specified time periods preceding the relevant 
announcements in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements. The 
manner in which this is regulated is clearly explained in the group’s Code of 
Ethics and Conduct, to which all staff have access.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE UPDATES  
AND REGULATORY AND LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
The company secretary and CEO are responsible for providing the board with 
briefings on changes and developments in corporate governance which are 
discussed at board meetings. 

The Financial Director and company secretary are responsible for ensuring 
the group complies with all applicable regulations and legislation. In doing 
so they liaise closely with the group’s sponsor. 

COMMITTEES
The chairmen of all board committees attend the annual general meeting in 
line with King II Report recommendations.

AUDIT 
COMMITTEE
The audit committee comprises four directors - non-executive directors Wolf 
Cesman, Stewart Shaw-Taylor (committee chairman), independent non-
executive director Roy McAlpine, and alternate independent non-executive 
director Peter Thurling. McAlpine was appointed to the committee in 
November 2006 in place of CEO Pieter Prinsloo, in recognition of the need 
to increase the number of independent non-executive directors on the 
committee in light of the requirements of the pending Corporate Laws 
Amendment Bill.

The committee meets three times a year, which is considered to be adequate 
for the purposes of the business. Special meetings are convened as required. 
The group’s external auditors and executive management are invited to 
attend every meeting.

The committee’s role and responsibilities are codified in a formal Audit 
Committee Charter which tasks the committee with reviewing accounting, 
auditing and financial reporting matters to ensure that an effective control 
environment is maintained and with assessing adherence to these controls. 
Further responsibilities include monitoring and appraising internal operating 
structures and systems on an ongoing basis as well as proposed changes in 
accounting policies and advising the board on the accounting implications of 
major transactions. The committee is responsible for reviewing the internal 
audit function and recommending the appointment of external auditors for 
approval by unitholders.

The committee has satisfied its duties during the year in accordance with its 
written terms of reference as set out in the Audit Committee Charter.

REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE
The remuneration committee is chaired by the company’s independent 
non-executive Chairman Peter Kirchmann, and comprises a further two 
independent non-executive directors - Roy McAlpine and Michael Aitken - 
and two non-executive directors - Ethan Dube and Wolf Cesman. In February 
2006 Pieter Prinsloo and Stewart Shaw-Taylor resigned from the committee 
and Roy McAlpine and Ethan Dube were appointed. 

During the year the committee adopted a formal Remuneration Committee 
Charter codifying its duties and responsibilities. The Remuneration 
Committee Charter sets out the committee’s composition, objectives, 
processes and remuneration guidelines.  

As set out in the Charter the committee meets at least once a year. It is 
responsible for reviewing the company’s remuneration of directors and staff 
and makes recommendations to the board in this respect. The committee 
also reviews the remuneration strategy for the group as a whole.

In order to ensure the attraction and retention of high-calibre individuals, 
basic salaries are as far as possible market-related with adjustments made 
for the employee’s particular experience, qualifications, responsibilities 
and nature of work. The remuneration structure further encompasses 
performance incentives, which include senior management participation in 
Hyprop Manco’s employee share purchase scheme.

NOMINATION 
COMMITTEE
The nomination committee is chaired by the company’s independent 
non-executive Chairman Peter Kirchmann and comprises a further two 
independent non-executive directors - Michael Aitken and Roy McAlpine - and 
two non-executive directors - Ethan Dube and Wolf Cesman. In February 2006 
non-executive director Stewart Shaw-Taylor resigned from the committee 
and Ethan Dube and Roy McAlpine were appointed.

The committee meets once a year and is responsible for reviewing the 
scope and composition of the board and its sub-committees and for making 



recommendations for new appointments. The committee further reviews and 
evaluates the performance of the directors and the board as a whole, and 
liaises with the remuneration committee in this regard. It communicates its 
findings and recommendations to the board.

In the current year the committee will approve and adopt a formal charter 
in accordance with King II Report recommendations, setting out its terms of 
reference, objectives and responsibilities. 

INTERNAL CONTROLS  
AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Systems of internal control

The effectiveness of the internal control systems is monitored by the 
audit committee. It is assisted by management supervision and reporting, 
comprehensive reviews and testing by an outsourced internal audit function.  
However, the overall effectiveness of the systems of internal control remains 
the responsibility of the board.

The systems of internal control are designed to provide reasonable, but 
not absolute assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the financial 
statements, to safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of Hyprop’s 
assets and to identify and minimise significant fraud, potential liability, 
loss and material misstatement while complying with applicable laws 
and regulations.  There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any 
system of internal control, including the possibility of human error and 
the circumvention or overriding of controls. Further, the effectiveness of 
an internal control system can change with circumstances. The systems 
are therefore designed to manage rather than eliminate risk of failure and 
opportunity risk.

Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate that a material 
breakdown in the controls within the group has occurred during the year.

Internal audit

Internal auditors are mandated annually to perform a risk management 
and financial and internal control review on a rotation basis in respect of 
the various sites within the group. Their findings are reported to the audit 
committee to facilitate the implementation of recommendations.

Risk management

The board is responsible for ensuring that appropriate risk management 
processes are in place and that these are managed and reported on by the 
audit committee in consultation with executive management. The objective 
of risk management is to identify, assess and monitor the risks to which 
the company is exposed, as well as to recommend and monitor measures 
of redress.

The most significant risks faced by Hyprop encompass standard industry 
risks including:

Risk  Risk Mitigation

Deterioration in the financial • Credit and ITC checks 
 position of tenants and • Security deposits and bank  
 consequent rental default and/  guarantees 
 or vacancies • Proactive leasing

  • Scrutiny of arrears

Total or partial destruction of • Insurance based on replacement 
 investment property  cost and loss of income cover during  
    reconstruction

  • Regular review of replacement  
    values and adequacy of cover

Public liability • Public liability insurance

  • Proactive property management

Interest rate risk • Fixing of interest costs for periods  
    exceeding three years

The group monitors insurable risks such as destruction of properties and 
public liability on an annual basis, purchasing insurance cover for material 
risks where appropriate. Levels of cover are adjusted in light of claims 
experience and changes in circumstances affecting the group.

The level of borrowings and exposure to interest rate risk is monitored on an 
ongoing basis. Further detail on financial risk management, including the 
group’s exposure to interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk, is set out 
in note 27 to the annual financial statements.

Hyprop Investments Limited
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Located adjacent to the N12 freeway and in close 

proximity to the affluent residential areas of 

Glenvista and Mulbarton, The Glen is now  

the preferred shopping destination for the  

southern suburbs of Johannesburg.

 Retail GLA - 51 464 m2

 Number of stores - 153

 Number of parking bays - 2 985

 Footcount 2006 - 12 572 766

 Turnover growth pa - 12%

THE GLEN - Oakdene Johannesburg
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The directors recognise the importance of reporting on employment, social 
and environmental practices as a priority alongside financial reporting. 
However, the group’s structure does not lend itself to reporting on employment 
equity and safety and health practices as staff are currently employed by 
Hyprop Manco, a private company wholly-owned by independent asset 
manager Madison.

BEE
The group supports the Property Transformation Charter (“the Charter”) and 
is committed to meeting its targets and requirements. 

In line with the Charter the group announced a transformation initiative in 
March 2006 enabling it to contribute to enterprise and skills development in 
the property industry. Hyprop together with Vunani Properties, a subsidiary 
of black-owned financial services group Vunani Capital, launched VPIF. 
VPIF comprises mainly commercial properties with government tenants 
in Johannesburg, Pretoria and Cape Town. In November 2006 Hyprop 
and Vunani Properties further boosted the fund with the acquisition of a 
R67 million portfolio of properties from Standard Bank. At year-end VPIF’s 
total portfolio was valued at R524 million. 

Black-owned Vunani Properties holds a 50,2% stake in VPIF while Hyprop 
holds the remaining 49,8% interest.

Hyprop has continued to make strides towards improving HDI representation 
at senior management level with the appointment of a black female director 
in November 2006. 

During the year the group also continued to formalise its affirmative 
procurement practices and achieved a target of 50%. Going forward Hyprop 
will continue to pursue and accelerate these initiatives.

CORPORATE SOCIAL INVESTMENT (“CSI”)
Hyprop is committed to socio-economic development and empowerment of 
local communities. To this end the group has developed a CSI programme 
setting out the parameters and guidelines for identifying suitable 
participants. 

Hyprop’s commitment to CSI is carried through to the individual shopping 
centres. During the year each of the centres held a variety of fundraising  
events and provided support for a number of charitable organisations. 

Beneficiaries of the various centres’ CSI programmes included HIV/AIDS 
orphans, underprivileged schools and the disabled. 

CANAL 
WALK
Canal Walk has a formalised CSI policy carried out by the Canal Walk 
Foundation, which was established in September 2005. In terms of its  
charter the Foundation focuses on providing support for various projects 
with a particular emphasis on job creation, socio-economic development 
and empowerment in health, education and the arts. 

During the year the Foundation organised a number of fundraising events 
including “The Magical Fairytale Theatre”, “Carols by the Walking Angels”, 
“Holidays on Ice”, a December gift wrapping service and “Football Fever”, 
which helped raise awareness for sport education. The Foundation’s 
beneficiaries included Childline, the Cape of Good Hope SPCA and the Bel 
Porto school for disabled children, where the Foundation sponsored a bus to 
transport the pupils to and from school. 

Throughout the year the centre provided promotional space free of charge  
to a number of charities including Big Brothers, Big Sisters of South Africa, 
the SA Guide Dogs Association, the Community Police and the Heart 
Foundation. 

The centre further partnered with Reach for a Dream and provided Siberian 
Husky sleigh rides and a giant ice rink to fulfil a leukaemia patient’s dream 
of experiencing Sweden. 

THE 
GLEN
During 2006 The Glen continued its sponsorship of a dedicated occupational 
therapist for the Thusanani Children’s Foundation. The Foundation provides 
therapy to children orphaned or affected by HIV/AIDS. One of its key 
focuses is on equipping caregivers with the skills to enhance the children’s 
developmental processes and stimulation. Thusanani provides therapy 
programmes for a number of orphanages across Johannesburg as well as 
workshops aimed at community outreach workers. In addition consultations 
and programmes are provided for special needs children in homes where 
they are ordinarily not able to access treatment.

The Glen further focussed on supporting the community in the surrounding 
area with donations to a number of local schools, charities and sports clubs. 
The December gift wrapping programme raised funds in aid of The Southern 
Courier Children’s Fund. 

SUSTAINABILITY 
REPORT



HYDE 
PARK
During 2006 Hyde Park continued to host a number of charitable events 
including the annual Spinathon which raises funds for EmployAbility 
Vulindlela. This organisation provides supported employment for people 
with intellectual disabilities. 

The centre further hosted Christmas Carols together with Lindt Chocolate 
to raise funds for Rosco Home, a Johannesburg-based orphanage. The 
orphanage’s own choir of 5-18 year-olds performed at the carol service and 
additional funds were raised through the sale of their CD. 

THE 
MALL

During the year The Mall supported a number of community projects 
including the year-end party for the Rosebank fire department.

For a seventh consecutive year the centre hosted the “Angel Tree” in support 
of the SAPS Widows and Orphans Fund which was re-branded as “Angels 
in Blue” for 2006. The centre not only provided the promotional space but 
also sponsored the relevant advertising material. The campaign collected 
Christmas gifts with a total value of more than R41 600 for over 170 children 
of police officers killed in the line of duty.  

In conjunction with Estée Lauder, The Mall conducted a three day campaign 
to raise breast cancer awareness and funds for CANSA. 

The centre regularly assists the immediate community through its monthly 
support of the Rosebank Managerial District. 

SOUTHCOAST 
MALL
The Southcoast Mall’s CSI programme is focussed on assisting smaller 
charities in the centre’s surrounding South Coast area in line with its 
objective of strong community involvement. During the year beneficiaries 
included Bashise Primary School, an underprivileged school on the South 
Coast. The centre further organised a collection of Easter eggs which were 
donated to Place of Restoration, a shelter for abandoned children. 

The SPCA benefited from a fundraising spinning marathon hosted by the 
centre as well as the free-of-charge promotional space made available for a 

gift wrapping service, of which it was the beneficiary, during December. The 
centre further provided fundraising space free-of-charge to The South Coast 
Hospice, which cares for terminally ill patients. 

INVESTOR AND 
STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS
As set out in Hyprop’s Code of Ethics and Conduct, timeous, consistent and 
accurate communications with investors and stakeholders is an important 
operational principle.

In line with JSE Rules and Regulations the group publishes all announcements 
on SENS. Financial results announcements are also posted on the company 
website and published in the business press as well as sent to investors. The 
CEO is available to answer queries from stakeholders at all times and meets 
regularly with industry analysts. Wherever possible the CEO also engages 
with the financial press to ensure accurate reporting.

Hyprop further communicates with stakeholders through its membership of 
the following industry associations and organisations:

• The Property Loan Stock Association (PLSA)

• The South African Council of Shopping Centres (SACSC) 

• The South African Property Owners Association (SAPOA)

In addition, unitholders are actively encouraged to attend the company’s 
annual general meetings to foster ongoing interaction with management.

CODE OF ETHICS AND 
CONDUCT (“THE CODE”)
All directors and group employees are expected to subscribe to the Code 
which sets out the group’s commitment to the strictest standards of ethical 
conduct, fair dealing and integrity in business practice.

The Code encapsulates the group’s commitment to best-practice corporate 
governance at all times including timeous and transparent communications 
with all stakeholders and procedures for avoiding conflicts of interest and 
insider trading. In addition, the Code contains guidelines on confidentiality, 
fair and ethical market competition and sound environmental practices.

Hyprop Investments Limited 
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EXECUTIVE  
DIRECTORS

1. Pieter (PG) Prinsloo (41) 
 BSc (QS) 
(CEO)
Pieter is a quantity surveyor who has  

been engaged in every aspect of property 

development, management and finance for over 

20 years having worked at Sanlam Properties, 

Standard Bank Properties and ABSA Commercial 

Property Finance. He has been CEO of Hyprop  

for five years.

2. Laurence (LR) Cohen (34) 

 BCom CA(SA) 
(Financial Director)
Laurence worked in corporate finance for three 

years before joining Hyprop Manco as Financial 

Director. He has been involved in various aspects 

of the group and was appointed to the board  

in December 2006. He also serves as non- 

executive director of Canal Walk Manco and 

Vunani Property Investment Fund (Pty) Limited.

INDEPENDENT 
NON-EXECUTIVE  
DIRECTORS

3. Peter (PF) Kirchmann (67) 
 MSc (Eng) 
(Chairman)

Peter is a civil engineer who has spent 33 years 
in the construction and property industries.  
He was a founding director and shareholder of 
the Kirchmann-Hurry Group, retiring in 1996.  
He remained on as non-executive chairman of 
listed property loan stock company Kirchmann-
Hurry Properties Limited.

4. Michael (MS) Aitken (50) 
BA LLB
An attorney, Michael has over 20 years’  
experience in property-related activity with  
specific expertise in asset management and 
investment relating to both directly held  
and listed property vehicles. He is currently  
the managing director of Corovest Property 
Group Limited.

5. Roy (JR) McAlpine (66) 
BSc CA
Roy has over 30 years’ experience in South  
African investment markets as well as having 
been an executive director of the Liberty Group 
for 16 years.  He is currently a non-executive 
director of Imperial Holdings Limited and  
African Rainbow Minerals Limited.

6. Makhosazana (“Khosi”) (MY) Sibisi (48)  
BA (Social Sciences) Diploma Supply Chain Management
Khosi spent 15 years in the USA before  
returning to SA in 1993 to serve on the  
Independent Electoral Commission. She is  
currently the CEO and founder of Khusela 
Women Investments and is a non- 
executive director of Iliad Africa Limited  
and Peregrine Holdings Limited.
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6. Khosi Sibisi

8. Ethan Dube

5. Roy McAlpine

4. Michael Aitken

7. Wolf Cesman9. Stewart Shaw-Taylor

2. Laurence Cohen 

DIRECTORATE



NON-EXECUTIVE  
DIRECTORS

7. Wolf (WE) Cesman (65) 

BCom CA(SA) H Dip Tax
Wolf has been engaged in every aspect of 

property development and management for  

over 38 years.  Wolf serves on the boards of 

Redefine Income Fund Limited, of which he  

is chairman, and ApexHi Properties Limited.  

He is a director of and linked unitholder in 

Madison, the asset manager of Hyprop,  

Redefine Income Fund  Limited and  

ApexHi Properties Limited.

8. Ethan (EG) Dube (47) 
 MSc (Economics and Statistics)
Ethan has over ten years’ experience in corporate 
finance and asset management working at 
Southern Asset Managers and Infinity Asset 
Management and in corporate finance at 
Standard Chartered Merchant Bank. He is 
the founder and CEO of investment banking 
company Vunani Capital Holdings.

9. Stewart (S) Shaw-Taylor (54)  
CA(SA) Harvard PMD
Stewart has more than 20 years’ industry 
experience comprising asset management and 
administration, property development and 
financing. Stewart is head of the property finance 
division of The Standard Bank of South Africa 
Limited and is responsible for assets in excess 
of R22 billion.

10. Marc (M) Wainer (58)
Marc has over 35 years’ experience in property 
asset management. He serves on the boards 
of ApexHi Properties Limited, of which he is 
chairman, and Redefine Income Fund Limited. He 
is a director of and linked unitholder in Madison, 
the asset manager of Hyprop, Redefine Income 
Fund Limited and ApexHi Properties Limited.

11. Les (LI) Weil (62)  
BCom CA(SA) MBA
Les has more than 30 years’ experience in real 
estate, prior to which he spent several years 
in merchant banking and commerce. He holds 

numerous directorships including the  
executive chairmanship of JHI Real Estate 
Limited and public office including The King 
Committee on Corporate Governance. Les is  
the property consultant to the Airports Company 
South Africa Limited.

ALTERNATE  
DIRECTORS
Peter (PJ) Thurling (51)  
CA(SA)  - alternate to Michael Aitken
Janys (JA) Finn (42)  
CA(SA) - alternate to Wolf Cesman
Mike (MN) Flax (42) 
CA(SA) - alternate to Marc Wainer
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The Mall situated on the corner of Bath Avenue 

and Baker Street, is in the heart of cosmopolitan 

Rosebank and provides high-quality amenities 

to a wide range of shoppers. The African Crafts 

Market is a popular attraction for tourists.

 Retail GLA - 33 774 m2

 Number of stores - 120

 Number of parking bays - 1 875

 Footcount 2006 - 10 668 467

 Turnover growth pa - 10%

THE MALL - Rosebank Johannesburg



     2006^ 2005^ 2004^ 2003~ 2002~
     R000 R000 R000 R000 R000

Revenue   738 381   635 041   545 310   316 691   160 653 

Property and other operating expenses   (228 239)  (213 504)  (200 662)  (121 440)  (55 055)

Net property income   510 142   421 537   344 648   195 251   105 598 

Net interest   (106 499)  (105 805)  (101 822)  (43 522)  (16 418)

    Received   2 143   2 104   3 141   1 767   498 

    Paid    (108 642)  (107 909)  (104 963)  (45 289)  (16 916)

Net operating income   403 643   315 732   242 826   151 729   89 180 

Change in fair value   1 548 261   1 374 384   899 474   118 753   43 911 

 Investment property   1 458 212   1 364 974   923 955   116 684   43 911 

 Straight-line rental income accrual   (26 235)  (22 889)  (26 381)  

 Listed property securities   116 284   32 299   1 900   2 069  

Profit on disposal   2 675   4 306   11 685   6 814   

 Investment property   731   212   10 994   6 814  

 Listed property securities   1 944   4 094    

 Associates     691    

Amortisation of debenture premium   35 248   5 066   2 535  

Income before debenture interest   1 989 826   1 699 488   1 156 520   277 296   133 091 

Debenture interest    (324 831)  (247 342)  (168 659)  (124 364)  (83 967)

Net income before share of income from associate   1 664 995   1 452 146   987 861   152 932   49 124 

Share of income / (loss) from associate   37 452     (223)  (268)

Net income before taxation   1 702 448   1 452 146   987 861   152 709   48 856 

Taxation    (429 344)  (378 217)  (264 701)  (21 160)  (6 607)

Net income after taxation   1 273 104   1 073 929   723 160   131 549   42 249 

Net income attributable to minorities   (217 783)  (181 433)  (152 404)  (64 149)  (17 054)

Net income attributable to Hyprop combined unitholders     1 055 321   892 496   570 756   67 400   25 195 

Dividends      (498)  (342)  (249)  (168)

Transfer to non-distributable reserve   (1 054 244)  (888 422)  (573 180)  (65 491)  (25 184)

Retained income / (loss) for the year   1 077   3 576   (2 766)  1 660   (157)

Investment property at fair value *   6 464 010   5 146 050   3 679 022   2 715 680   1 115 481 

Distribution per combined unit (cents)   225   190   163   140   130 

* Includes minority interests

^ Prepared in terms of International Financial Reporting Standards

~ Prepared in terms of South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice prevailing at the time     
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1. Wayne Abegglen (40) 
National Higher Diploma (HR) 
CEO Canal Walk Manco

Wayne has over 15 years’ experience in property 
management and joined Canal Walk in 2003. He 
has been involved in the successful repositioning 
of Canal Walk as a foremost shopping destination, 
while also enhancing the tenant mix of the centre. 
Wayne holds an Advanced Certificate in Shopping 
Centre Management.

2. Reinette Atkinson (37) 
General Manager Hyde Park

Reinette has overseen the management of Hyde 
Park since May 2002 and has been responsible 
for increasing retail lettable space and the capital 

growth of the retail and office components.  
She has completed the Certificate in Property  
Administration, Programme in Shopping  
Centre Management and an Advanced  
Certificate in Shopping Centre Management. 

3. Leila Daya (36) 
Diploma in Public Relations and Marketing 
General Manager The Mall

Leila has over 18 years’ experience in the 
property industry.  Since joining The Mall she 
has helped the value of the building increase 
and centre growth nearly double. Leila has 
completed both the Certificate in Shopping 
Centre Management and the Advanced 
Certificate in Shopping Centre Leadership.   
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3. Leila Daya 

4. Nicole Greenstone 5. Lelani Grove

2. Reinette Atkinson

Laurence Cohen

SENIOR  
MANAGEMENT



4. Nicole Greenstone (38) 
BA (Hons) H Dip Ed, Nat Dip Real 
Estate (Valuations) 
Group Asset Manager

Nicole has over ten years’ experience in property 
management and has been in her current 
position since October 2003.

5. Lelani Grove (36) 
BA Personnel Management (Hons) 
Human Resource Management 
Commercial Portfolio Manager

Lelani has been in her current position for 
seven years and is responsible for all aspects 
of the commercial portfolio, from marketing 

and maintenance through to finance. She has 

been involved in numerous Hyprop projects over 

the years, including the successful Hyde Park 

renovations in 1994.

6. Tracy Kohler  (38) 
General Manager Southcoast Mall

Tracy previously worked in strategic operations 

in the retail and corporate arenas and joined 

Southcoast Mall in October 2006. Her expertise 

in training, management, marketing, branding 

and financial operations led her to receive the 

‘Achiever of the Year’ award from corporate 

communications skills training group Voice 

Excellence International. 

7. Roy Licht (60)  
BCom Registered Valuer 
General Manager The Glen

Roy has over 37 years’ experience in the property 
and construction industries and has been in 
his current position for eight years. He was 
previously part of the original team that 
developed the first Pick ‘n Pay Hypermarket 
and was also involved in the development of 
the Sandton Hilton International Hotel. 
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Hyprop’s newest shopping centre is  

located adjacent to the N2 freeway in  

Shelly Beach - a popular holiday destination 

on KwaZulu-Natal’s south coast.

 Retail GLA - 27 642 m2

 Number of stores - 90

 Number of parking bays - 1 605

 Footcount 2006 - 3 360 593

SOUTHCOAST MALL - Shelly Beach KwaZulu-Natal



Hyprop Investments Limited 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT    

The directors have pleasure in submitting their report for the group for the year.

NATURE OF BUSINESS

Hyprop is a property investment holding company listed on the JSE. The company has high-quality real estate investments in Canal Walk, The Glen, Hyde 
Park, The Mall and Southcoast Mall, as well as in prominent offices in the decentralised nodes of Johannesburg’s northern suburbs. The group’s intention 
is to grow the portfolio by acquiring or developing properties as and when appropriate opportunities arise.

REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES

The results of the group and the company and the state of their affairs are set out in the annual financial statements on pages 26 to 47 and are  
commented on in the CEO’s & Chairman’s Report.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

All combined units comprise one ordinary share and one debenture and may only be traded on the JSE. The terms and conditions governing the  
debentures are contained in the Debenture Trust Deed. 

The following movements in the issued combined units took place during the year:

     Number of  Ordinary share Debentures Debenture 
     combined units capital  premium

      R‘000 R‘000  R‘000

Combined units in issue at 31 December 2005  143 137 272 1 431 705 667 1 069 535

Additional combined units issued: 

- March 2006  1 211 697 12 5 973 37 718

- April 2006  19 405 1 96 599

- May 2006  740  4 22

- June 2006   74   2

     144 369 188 1 444 711 740 1 107 876

The additional combined units issued during the year were for the acquisition of linked units in SA Retail. 

Full particulars regarding the authorised and issued share capital at 31 December 2006 are set out in note 9 to the annual financial statements, and  
full particulars regarding the debentures are set out in note 12. The company’s unissued combined units have been placed under the control of the  
directors until the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORATE

On 1 December 2006, the following changes were effected to the board:

Khosi Sibisi was appointed as an independent non-executive director and Laurence Cohen was appointed to the board as Financial Director. Peter  
Thurling resigned as a non-executive director and was appointed as an alternate director to Michael Aitken. Sarah Webb resigned as a non-executive 
director. Michael Flax and Janys Finn were appointed as alternate directors to Marc Wainer and Wolf Cesman, respectively. 

An abridged curriculum vitae for each of the directors is set out on pages 18 and 19. Peter Kirchmann, Pieter Prinsloo and Les Weil, in accordance with 
the company’s articles of association, retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. 
Laurence Cohen and Khosi Sibisi by virtue of their appointment as directors during the year and in terms of the company’s articles of association,  
offer themselves for re-election at the same annual general meeting.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The secretary of the company is Probity Business Services (Proprietary) Limited. The business and postal addresses of the company secretary are set out 
on the inside back cover.

AUDITORS

Grant Thornton will continue in office in accordance with section 270(2) of the South African Companies Act, 1973.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

The only interests of the directors in the combined units of the company at 31 December 2006 were as follows:

    2006  Beneficial 2005 Beneficial

     Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

Executive directors

PG Prinsloo^   293 737  293 737

LR Cohen^#   124 109  

Non-executive directors

PF Kirchmann  35 000 988 875 161 784 1 062 091

MS Aitken   15 000  8 479 

JR McAlpine     300 000

S Shaw-Taylor  8 479  8 479 

PJ Thurling (alternate to MS Aitken)   35 000 11 900 

LI  Weil   1 953  1 953 

Total    60 432 1 441 721 192 595 1 655 828

# appointed December 2006    ^ units held in terms of an employee share purchase scheme



No non-beneficial combined units were held by any of the directors. 

There have been no changes in the directors’ interests between the end 

of the year and the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

No material contracts in which the directors have an interest were  

entered into during the year, other than the transactions detailed in note 

26 to the annual financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in note 19 to the annual 

financial statements.

ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT

Madison undertakes the group’s asset management functions together 

with the day-to-day management of Hyde Park, The Glen, Southcoast 

Mall and the offices in terms of agreements which expire as follows:

Hyde Park, Southcoast Mall and offices - 31 December 2011

The Glen - 31 May 2012 

Twelve months notice of termination may be given by either party at any 

time from the following dates:

Hyde Park and offices - 1 January 2009

The Glen - 1 June 2008

Southcoast Mall - 1 January 2008

Until 31 March 2006, the above asset management and day-to-day  

management functions were performed by Hyprop Manco. Effective  

1 April 2006, Hyprop Manco became a wholly-owned subsidiary of  

Madison and the business of Hyprop Manco was purchased by Madison.

JHI Real Estate Limited manages The Mall and JHI House on a day-to-day 

basis on behalf of Hyprop in terms of an agreement that will expire on  

31 December 2007.

Canal Walk Manco manages Canal Walk on a day-to-day basis on behalf 

of Hyprop in terms of an agreement that will expire on 31 December 2011.  

Twelve months notice of termination may be given by either party at any 

time from 1 January 2009. The shareholding structure of Canal Walk Manco 

is 80% held by Madison and 20% by Ellerine Bros (Proprietary) Limited.

The following fees were paid during the year:

 TOTAL

 2006 2005

 R000 R000

Fees 

Asset management:

Hyprop Manco 6 210 19 163

Madison  18 851 

Property management:

Hyprop Manco 2 677 6 739

Madison 8 859 

Canal Walk Manco 3 434 3 211

JHI Real Estate Limited 3 632 3 495

Lease commission:

Hyprop Manco 137 1 328

Madison 1 348 

Canal Walk Manco 2 112 1 522

JHI Real Estate Limited 1 117 1 058

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

At 31 December 2006 Hyprop owned the entire share capital of one 

company, Morningside Viewsites Share Block (Proprietary) Limited, 

which owns a portion of Morningview Office Park. Details in respect of 

this subsidiary are set out in note 5 to the annual financial statements.

During the year, two of the company’s subsidiaries, Hyde Park Corner 

Shopping Centre (Proprietary) Limited and Hyde Park Investments 

Shareblock (Proprietary) Limited, were de-registered. Both of these 

companies were dormant and neither of them owned any assets.

THE GLEN, CANAL WALK AND SOUTHCOAST MALL

The results of The Glen and Canal Walk, in which the group owns 

majority undivided shares of 75,15% and 80% respectively, have been 

consolidated in the group annual financial statements.

The results of Southcoast Mall, in which the group owns a 50% undivided 

share, have been proportionately consolidated.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT

Details of the post balance sheet event relating to the disposal by Hyprop 

of its investment in SA Retail are set out in the CEO’s and Chairman’s 

Report. 

Johannesburg
1 March 2007

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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 GROUP COMPANY

     2006 2005 2006 2005
    Note R000 R000 R000 R000

Assets     

Non-current assets  7 766 336  6 055 938   6 773 983   5 330 720 

 Investment property 2 6 292 894  4 978 831   5 357 885   4 268 489 

 Investment property under development 2 54 342    54 342  

 Straight-line rental income accrual  120 301  110 141   92 035   87 054 

 Building appurtenances and tenant installations 3 21 160  24 651   20 871   24 198 

 Listed property securities 4 1 135 019  942 315   1 135 019   942 315 

 Investment in subsidiaries 5    8 663   8 664 

 Investment in associate 6 142 620    105 168  

Current assets  86 166  89 363   77 277   77 853 

 Listed property securities 4  8 759    8 759 

 Receivables  58 110  56 084   53 034   49 162 

 Cash and cash equivalents 8 28 056  24 520   24 243   19 932 

Non-current assets classified as held-for-sale     

 Investment property 2 38 060  34 800   38 060   34 800 

Total assets  7 890 562  6 180 101   6 889 320   5 443 373 

Equity and liabilities     

Equity capital and reserves  3 504 948  2 282 870   2 683 328   1 670 949 

 Share capital 9 1 444  1 431   1 444   1 431 

 Retained income  8 994  7 917   8 463   6 656 

 Non-distributable reserves 10 2 734 454  1 680 210   2 673 421   1 662 862 

 Minority interests 11 760 056  593 312   

Non-current liabilities  4 119 534  3 663 638   3 950 155   3 549 922 

 Debentures and debenture premium 12 1 771 757  1 762 591   1 771 757   1 762 591 

 Long-term loans 13 1 135 748  1 125 911   1 135 748   1 125 911 

 Financial guarantee for associate 6 7 548   7 548  

 Deferred taxation 14 1 204 481  775 136   1 035 102   661 420 

Current liabilities  266 080  233 593   255 837   222 502 

 Payables  100 055  91 851   89 812   80 760 

 Taxation   36   36

 Combined unitholders for distribution  166 025  141 706   166 025   141 706 

Total equity and liabilities  7 890 562  6 180 101   6 889 320   5 443 373 

Net asset value per combined unit (R)     31.29   24.12  

Net asset value per combined unit -  
excluding deferred taxation liability (R)     39.63   29.53  
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 GROUP COMPANY

     2006 2005 2006 2005
    Note R000 R000 R000 R000

Revenue   738 381   635 041   653 787   557 505 

 Investment property income   630 285   571 503   550 870   497 965 

 Straight-line rental income accrual   26 235   22 889   21 056   18 891 

 Listed property securities income   81 861   40 649   81 861   40 649 

Property expenses   (199 119)  (189 217)  (174 731)  (165 749)

Net property income   539 262   445 824   479 056   391 756 

Other operating expenses   (29 120)  (24 287)  (29 120)  (24 287)

Operating income   510 142   421 537   449 936   367 469 

Net interest   (106 499)  (105 805)  (106 725)  (105 938)

 Received 15  2 143   2 104   1 917   1 961 

 Paid  16  (108 642)  (107 909)  (108 642)  (107 899)

Net operating income 17  403 643   315 732   343 211   261 531 

Change in fair value   1 548 261   1 374 384   1 329 744   1 170 394 

 Investment property   1 458 212   1 364 974   1 234 516   1 156 986 

 Straight-line rental income accrual   (26 235)  (22 889)  (21 056)  (18 891)

 Listed property securities   116 284   32 299   116 284   32 299 

Profit on disposal   2 675   4 306   2 675   4 306 

 Investment property   731   212   731   212 

 Listed property securities   1 944   4 094   1 944  4094

Amortisation of debenture premium   35 248   5 066   35 248   5 066 

Income before debenture interest and taxation   1 989 827   1 699 488   1 710 878   1 441 297 

Debenture interest    (324 831)  (247 342)  (324 831)  (247 342)

Net income before share of income from associate    1 664 996   1 452 146   1 386 047   1 193 955 

Share of income from associate 6  37 452    

Net income before taxation   1 702 448   1 452 146   1 386 047   1 193 955 

Taxation  20  (429 344)  (378 217)  (373 681)  (319 706)

Net income after taxation   1 273 104   1 073 929   1 012 366   874 249 

Attributable to -      

 Hyprop combined unitholders   1 055 321   892 496   

 Minorities 11  217 783   181 433   

      1 273 104   1 073 929   

      Cents   Cents   

Earnings per combined unit  21  957.9   917.1   

Distributable earnings per combined unit 21  224.5   189.9   
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     Non-   
    Share distributable Retained Minority 
    capital reserves income interests Total

    R000 R000 R000 R000 R000

Group

Balance at 1 January 2005  1 166   791 788   4 341   454 061   1 251 356 

Issue of ordinary share capital  265      265 

Net profit for the year    892 496   181 433   1 073 929 

Net transfer to non-distributable reserves   888 422   (888 422)    

Dividends    (498)   (498)

Distribution to minorities     (50 202)  (50 202)

Minority share of additions to investment property     8 020   8 020 

Balance at 31 December 2005  1 431   1 680 210   7 917   593 312   2 282 870 

     

Issue of ordinary share capital  13      13 

Net profit for the year    1 055 321   217 783   1 273 104 

Net transfer to non-distributable reserves   1 054 244   (1 054 244)    

Distribution to minorities     (57 189)  (57 189)

Minority share of additions to investment property     6 150   6 150 

Balance at 31 December 2006  1 444   2 734 454   8 994   760 056   3 504 948 

Company     

Balance at 1 January 2005  1 166   790 118   5 649    796 933 

Issue of ordinary share capital  265      265 

Net profit for the year     874 249    874 249 

Net transfer to non-distributable reserves   872 744   (872 744)  

Dividends    (498)   (498)

Balance at 31 December 2005  1 431   1 662 862   6 656    1 670 949 

Issue of ordinary share capital  13      13 

Net profit for the year     1 012 366    1 012 366 

Net transfer to non-distributable reserves   1 010 559   (1 010 559)  

Balance at 31 December 2006  1 444   2 673 421   8 463    2 683 328 
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 GROUP COMPANY

     2006 2005 2006 2005
    Note R000 R000 R000 R000

Cash flows from operating activities    40 696   95 704   35 287   92 921 

Cash generated from operations  22.2  498 782   444 658   442 560   391 371 

Interest received   2 143   2 104   1 917   1 961 

Interest paid   (108 642)  (107 909)  (108 642)  (107 899)

Net cash paid to minorities   (51 039)  (50 637)  

Taxation paid 22.3  (36)  (71)  (36)  (71)

Distribution to combined unitholders    (300 512)  (192 441)  (300 512)  (192 441)

Interest paid to combined unitholders  22.4  (300 228)  (192 052)  (300 228)  (192 052)

Dividends paid to combined unitholders  22.5  (284)  (389)  (284)  (389)

Cash flows from investing activities    (46 997)  (280 587)  (40 813)  (280 513)

Acquisition of and additions to investment property   (102 587)  (114 580)  (96 403)  (114 506)

Proceeds on disposal of investment property   174 500   14 200   174 500   14 200 

Investment in associate   (97 619)    (97 619)  

Proceeds on disposal of listed property securities   10 703   43 669   10 703   43 669 

Acquisition of listed property securities    (31 994)  (223 876)  (31 994)  (223 876)

Cash flows from financing activities      

Increase in long-term loans   9 837   196 884   9 837   196 884 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   3 536   12 001   4 311   9 292 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   24 520   12 519   19 932   10 640 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year    28 056   24 520   24 243   19 932 
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The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost 
basis, except for the measurement of investment properties and 
certain financial instruments which have been disclosed at fair value 
and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below.

These accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the previous 
year.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with  
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). Various new  
accounting standards, or revisions to current accounting standards, have  
been issued with effective dates applicable to future financial statements  
of the group. The only standards not yet adopted and that could be expected  
to be applicable to the group are those requiring additional disclosure. 
These will be dealt with as and when they apply.  

1.1 Basis of consolidation 

The group financial statements include those of the holding company 
and enterprises controlled by the company. Control is achieved when the 
company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
of an investee enterprise. All significant inter-company transactions, 
unrealised profits and balances between group enterprises are eliminated 
on consolidation. 

1.2 Joint ventures

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the proportionate 
consolidation method, except when the asset is classified as held-for-sale. 
Under the proportionate consolidation method the group’s share of each of 
the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the investment is combined 
line by line with similar items in the group financial statements. The use 
of proportionate consolidation is discontinued from the date on which the 
company ceases to have joint control over a jointly controlled entity.

1.3 Investment in associates

An associate is an enterprise over which the group is in a position to 
exercise significant influence, through participation in the financial and 
operating policy decisions of the investee, but does not have control or 
joint control over these policies.

The investment is initially recorded at cost and the carrying amount is 
increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the profits or 
losses of the investee after the date of acquisition. 

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these 
financial statements using the equity method of accounting.   

1.4 Investment property

Investment property is initially recognised at cost including transaction 
costs. Cost includes costs incurred initially as well as costs incurred 
subsequently to add to, or to replace part of, an investment property.

Subsequent to initial measurement investment property is measured at 
fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are included 
in net profit or loss for the period in which they arise. These gains or losses 
are transferred to non-distributable reserves.

Realised surpluses and deficits arising on the disposal of investment 
properties are recognised in net income for the year and transferred to  
non-distributable reserves.

1.5 Building appurtenances and tenant installations

Building appurtenances and tenant installations are carried at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided on all building appurtenances and tenant  
installations to write down the cost, less residual value, by equal  
instalments over their useful lives as follows:

• tenant installations - period of lease; and 

• building appurtenances - three to seven years.

1.6 Financial instruments

1.6.1 Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the balance 
sheet when the group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.

The company classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, 
on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability or an 
equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangement.

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised initially at fair value. 

1.6.2 Subsequent measurement 

1.6.2.1 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject 
to insignificant risk in change in value. Cash and cash equivalents are 
measured at fair value.

1.6.2.2 Receivables 

Trade and other receivables originated by the enterprise are carried at 
amortised cost less any accumulated impairments.

1.6.2.3 Long-term loans and debentures 

Long-term loans and debentures are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method.

1.6.2.4 Listed property securities 

Listed property securities are classified as at fair value through profit or loss 
and are, accordingly, subsequently measured at fair value less the accrual 
for distributions receivable. This accrual is included in receivables.

No deduction is made for transaction costs which may be incurred on sale 
or other disposal.

1.6.3 Gains or losses 

A gain or loss arising from a change in a financial asset or financial liability 
is recognised as follows: 

• a gain or loss on listed property securities is recognised in profit or loss;  
 and 

• in respect of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at  
amortised cost, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 
when the financial asset or financial liability is derecognised or  
impaired through the amortisation process.

1.7 Revenue 

Revenue includes operating lease income and operating expense recoveries 
from investment properties. Operating lease income is recognised as 
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rents are 
included in revenue when the amounts can be reliably measured. Interest 
received from listed property securities is recognised on an accrual basis.

1.8  Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or 
construction of a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of the cost of that 

asset until such time as the asset is ready for its intended use. 
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The amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is the actual 

borrowing costs on funds specifically borrowed in respect of the qualifying 

asset less any temporary investment of those borrowings. Capitalisation 

ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the 

qualifying asset for its intended use are complete. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in 

which they are incurred.

1.9 Impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

1.10 Taxation 

1.10.1 Current liabilities 

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised 

as a liability. 

Current tax liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the 

amount expected to be paid to the tax authorities, using the tax rates that 

have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

1.10.2 Deferred tax liability and asset 

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences 

to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 

which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised to the extent that they 

arise from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction  

which, at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting nor 

taxable profit. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are 

expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability  

is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax on the fair value adjustment of investment property and 

listed property securities has been provided on a combination of the 

income tax and capital gains tax rates, based on the manner in which each 

asset is expected to be realised.

1.10.3 Tax expenses 

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and 

included in profit for the period.

1.11 Segment reporting

On a primary basis the operations are organised into three major business 

segments - retail, office and listed property securities.

1.12 Key estimations and uncertainties

Estimates and assumptions are an integral part of financial reporting 

and as such have an impact on the amounts reported for the group’s 

income, expenses, assets and liabilities. Judgment in these areas is based 

on historical experience and reasonable expectations relating to future 

events. 

Information on the key estimations and uncertainties that have the most 

significant effect on amounts recognised are set out in the following notes 

to the financial statements:

• Accounting policy notes - notes 1.4, 1.6, 1.7, 1.9 and 1.10

• Investment property valuation - note 2

• Listed property security valuation - note 4

• Deferred taxation - note 14

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND  PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS



2. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

 GROUP COMPANY

     2006 2005 2006 2005
     R000 R000 R000 R000

2.1 Net carrying value     

Historical cost   2 475 680   2 495 391   2 095 668   2 121 529 

Revaluation surplus   3 909 616   2 518 240   3 354 619   2 181 760 

Under development   (54 342)   (54 342) 

Held-for-sale   (38 060)  (34 800)  (38 060)  (34 800)

      6 292 894   4 978 831   5 357 885   4 268 489 

2.2 Movement for the year     

Investment property at valuation 1 January   4 978 831   3 575 664   4 268 489   3 075 774 

Capital expenditure   92 640   106 764   86 490   100 302 

Change in fair value   1 458 212   1 364 974   1 234 516   1 156 986 

Disposals   (172 752)  (14 200)  (172 752)  (14 200)

Interest capitalised   3 725   3 318   3 725   3 318 

Straight-line rental income accrual   (10 160)  (22 889)  (4 981)  (18 891)

Investment property under development   (54 342)   (54 342) 

Investment property held-for-sale   (3 260)     (34 800)  (3 260)  (34 800)

Investment property at valuation 31 December   6 292 894   4 978 831   5 357 885   4 268 489 

2.3 Reconciliation to independent valuation     

Investment property at valuation   6 292 894   4 978 831   5 357 885   4 268 489 

Straight-line rental income accrual    120 301   110 141   92 035   87 054 

Building appurtenances and tenant installations   21 160   24 651   20 871   24 198 

Centre management assets    (1 565)  (2 373)  (1 276)  (1 920)

Investment property not revalued and held at cost   (6 840)   (6 840) 

Investment property held-for-sale   38 060   34 800   38 060   34 800 

Independent valuation    6 464 010   5 146 050   5 500 735   4 412 621

2.4 Investment property pledged as security

The following properties have been pledged as security by means of  
mortgage bonds (note 13):

To Standard Bank Properties (a division of The Standard Bank of South  
Africa Limited) to secure borrowing facilities totalling R780 million.

1  Erf 14 and 201 Hyde Park

2  Erf 202 Hyde Park Extension 21

3  Erf 214 Hyde Park Extension 16

4  Erf 233 Rosebank

5  Portion 1 and Portion 2 of Erf 226 Rosebank

6 Pledge and cession of 100 590 239 SA Retail linked units

To Blueprint Originator Security SPV (Proprietary) Limited (a private  
company managed by The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited)  
to secure borrowing facilities totalling R900 million.

1 A 75,15% undivided share in Erf 50 Gleneagles Extension 2 Township

2 An 80% undivided share in Erf 5958 Montague Gardens, City of  
 Cape Town

To ABSA Bank Limited to secure borrowing facilities totalling  
R33 million.

1 Erf 132, 133 and 134 Atholl Extension 12

2 Portion 1 of Erf 135 Atholl Extension 12 

3 Portion 3 and 4 of Erf 184 Atholl Extension 12

4 Erf 6 Simba
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2. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONTINUED)

2.5 Investment property valuation

Investment property is reflected at valuation at year-end. It is the policy of the group to obtain an independent valuation of the investment property 
portfolio on a six monthly basis.

The portfolio was valued at R6.5 billion* at 31 December 2006, including minority interests (R5.5 billion* excluding minority interests), by Trevor King 
B.Sc, DipSurv MRICS MIVSA, Professional Registered Valuer (SA) and Chartered Valuation Surveyor (UK) of Old Mutual Properties, using the discounted 
cash flow of the future income stream method. The valuer has extensive experience in the valuation of commercial properties throughout South Africa, 
with a particular expertise in large regional and super-regional shopping centres.

* Excludes the development costs incurred to date on Stoneridge, which was valued at cost and also excludes investment property held-for-sale, which was included in the balance sheet 

 at year-end at sale price.

3. BUILDING APPURTENANCES AND TENANT INSTALLATIONS

 GROUP COMPANY

     2006 2005 2006 2005
     R000 R000 R000 R000

3.1 Cost

Building appurtenances  29 108   31 510   28 242   30 676 

Tenant installations   26 000   23 989   26 000   23 989 

     55 108   55 499   54 242   54 665
3.2 Accumulated depreciation

Building appurtenances   18 331   18 944   17 754   18 563 

Tenant installations   15 617   11 904   15 617   11 904 

     33 948   30 848   33 371   30 467
3.3 Net carrying value

Building appurtenances   10 777   12 566   10 488   12 113 

Tenant installations   10 383   12 085   10 383   12 085

     21 160   24 651   20 871   24 198
3.4 Movement for the year

Net carrying value 1 January  24 651   18 952   24 198   18 382

Capital expenditure  6 222   12 518   6 191   12 444

Disposals  (1 018)  (196)  (1 018)  (196)

Depreciation  (8 695)  (6 623)  (8 500)  (6 432)

Net carrying value 31 December  21 160   24 651   20 871   24 198 

4. LISTED PROPERTY SECURITIES    

Non-current    

108 097 051 ( 2005: 101 822 670 ) linked units in SA Retail  1 135 019   942 315  1 135 019   942 315 

Currrent    

1 356 059 linked units in Freestone    8 746    8 746 

Other investments    13    13 

       8 759    8 759 

Hyprop held a 46.2% interest in SA Retail at year-end. The investment  
in SA Retail has been accounted for as an investment rather than equity  
accounted, since Hyprop does not exercise significant influence over  
SA Retail. In particular, Hyprop does not have representation on the  
SA Retail board and does not participate in any policy-making processes  
relating to SA Retail.

5. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES    

Shares      50   62 478 

Amounts owing to subsidiaries      8 613   (53 814)

        8 663   8 664 

At year-end, Hyprop had an investment in only one subsidiary,  
Morningside Viewsites Shareblock (Proprietary) Limited. This company  
is wholly-owned and owns a portion of Morningview Office Park.
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6. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE

 GROUP COMPANY

     2006 2005 2006 2005
     R000 R000 R000 R000

Vunani Property Investment Fund (Proprietary) Limited ("VPIF")    

Cost of investment   70 995    70 995  

Financial guarantee    7 548    7 548  

Loan advanced   26 625    26 625  

Share of post-acquisitions profits   37 452    

 Investment property income   1 936    

 Straight-line rental income accrual   406    

 Fair value adjustment to investment property   35 110    

Closing balance (directors' valuation)   142 620    105 168  

VPIF is the sole beneficiary of the Vunani Property Investment Trust,  
in which the investment properties are held.     

At year-end, Hyprop's interest in VPIF was 49.8%.   

The following represents a summary of the financial information  
of VPIF at year-end:    

Revenue   124 944  

Income for the period   75 284  

Total assets   546 425  

Total liabilities (excluding debentures)   318 292  

Group's share of associate's income for the period   37 452  

Group's share of associate's net assets   113 611  

7. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE    

The group has a 50% undivided share in Southcoast Mall.

Summary of the group's share of the financial information of  
Southcoast Mall at year-end:    

Carrying value of investment property   137 000   103 150   137 000   103 150 

Current assets   3 189   2 731   3 189   2 731 

Current liabilities   3 287   2 731   3 287   2 731 

Revenue   14 188   1 741   14 188   1 741 

Expenses   (4 523)  (903)  (4 523)  (903)

Net property income   9 665   838   9 665   838 

8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    

Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances and cash floats  28 056  24 520   24 243   19 932 

9. SHARE CAPITAL     

Authorised   2 000   2 000   2 000   2 000 

200 000 000 ordinary shares of one cent each     

Issued    1 444   1 431   1 444   1 431 

144 369 188 (2005: 143 137 272) ordinary shares of one cent each      

The unissued shares are under the control of the directors in terms  
of a resolution of shareholders passed at the last annual general meeting.  
This authority remains in force until the forthcoming annual  
general meeting.
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9. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)     

Combined unitholder information     

Combined unitholder spread at year-end:     

     Combined  
     unitholders  Combined units 
      Quantity % Quantity %

Public combined unitholders    1 660  99.4  57 434 848  39.8

Non-public combined unitholders:     

- Directors    5  0.3  1 502 153  1.0

- Combined unitholders with an interest of 5% or more    5  0.3  85 432 187  59.2

Total     1 670  100.0  144 369 188  100.0

Portfolio size (combined units)     

1 – 1 000    551  33.0  217 764  0.2

1 001 – 10 000   728  43.6  2 851 893  2.0

10 001 – 100 000    309  18.5  9 625 390  6.7

100 001 – 1 000 000    64  3.8  18 650 131  12.9

1 000 001 and over    18  1.1  113 024 010  78.2

Total     1 670  100  144 369 188  100.0

At year-end the directors were aware of the following interests of 5% or 
more in the combined units of the company:       

      % of total    
     Number of combined    
     combined units units in issue  

Redefine Income Fund Limited   41 300 229  28.6  

Stanlib Funds   15 339 250  10.6  

Coronation Group Funds    11 444 412  7.9  

Old Mutual Funds   9 782 487  6.8  

The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited   7 565 809  5.3  

     85 432 187  59.2  

10. NON-DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

 GROUP COMPANY

     2006 2005 2006 2005
     R000 R000 R000 R000

Realised surplus / (deficit) on disposal of investment properties    43 209   (6 550)  43 209   (6 550)

Realised surplus on disposal of financial assets   772   772   772   772 

Revaluation of investment property   2 480 735   1 644 765   2 455 218   1 627 417 

Revaluation of financial assets    126 363   28 612   126 363   28 612 

Amortised debenture premium   47 859   12 611   47 859   12 611 

Non-distributable reserves of associate   35 516  

      2 734 454   1 680 210   2 673 421   1 662 862 

11. MINORITY INTEREST     

The Glen     

Fair valuation of investment property   277 575   206 429   

Deferred taxation   (47 387)  (28 214)  

      230 188   178 215   

Canal Walk     

Fair valuation of investment property   650 000   500 000   

Other assets   599   599   

Deferred taxation   (120 731)  (85 502)  

     529 868   415 097   

Total     760 056   593 312
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11. MINORITY INTEREST (CONTINUED)

 GROUP COMPANY

     2006 2005 2006 2005
     R000 R000 R000 R000

Reconciliation to minority interest in the income statement:     

The Glen     

Change in fair value of investment property    67 515   49 701   

Share of net profit    17 454   14 970   

Deferred taxation   (19 173)  (13 938)  

      65 796   50 733   

Canal Walk     

Change in fair value of investment property   147 481   139 951   

Share of net profit   39 735   35 232   

Deferred taxation   (35 229)  (44 483)  

      151 987   130 700   

Total     217 783   181 433 

12. DEBENTURES AND DEBENTURE PREMIUM

144 369 188 (2005: 143 137 272) unsecured unsubordinated variable  
rate debentures of 493 cents each    711 740   705 667   711 740   705 667 

Premium on debentures    1 060 017   1 056 924   1 060 017   1 056 924 

 - Upon issue of combined units   1 107 876   1 069 535   1 107 876   1 069 535 

 - Debenture premium amortised   (47 859)  (12 611)  (47 859)  (12 611)

      1 771 757   1 762 591   1 771 757   1 762 591

In terms of the company's amended Principal Debenture Trust  
Deed, interest on the debentures is calculated in accordance with  
a distributable income formula. The right of redemption may be  
exercised only by special resolution of the debenture holders passed  
within 90 days after 25 January 2013 or every 10th anniversary  
thereafter. The debentures are redeemable at their par value on the  
last Friday in December of the fifth year after which the debenture  
special resolution is passed. The amended Principal Debenture Trust  
Deed is available for inspection by combined unitholders or their duly  
authorised agents at the registered office of the company.    

13. LONG-TERM LOANS     

13.1 Interest-bearing borrowings – non-current     

13.1.1 The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited   202 748   1 080 911   202 748   1 080 911 

The loan is secured in terms of first mortgage bonds over fixed  
properties to the maximum amount of R450 million, cession of  
leases and rentals in respect of the bonded properties and a pledge  
and cession of 100 590 239 SA Retail linked units. Market value of  
the bonded properties at year-end was R1.75 billion.     

The loan terminates on 31 December 2010 and only interest,  
at a floating rate of 1.05% above the funds transfer  
pricing rate, is payable until that date.      

Hyprop has a pre-approved borrowing facility of R780 million.     
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13. LONG-TERM LOANS (CONTINUED)

 GROUP COMPANY

     2006 2005 2006 2005
     R000 R000 R000 R000

13.1.2 Blueprint Originator (Proprietary) Limited (a private company   
managed by The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited)   900 000    900 000  

The loans are secured in terms of first mortgage bonds over fixed  
properties to the maximum amount of R1.39 billion and a cession of  
leases and rentals in respect of the bonded properties. Market value  
of the bonded properties at year-end was R3.4 billion.     

The loans are repayable in two equal instalments of R450 million each   
on 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2010.     

At year-end the fixed interest rate agreements were as follows:     
- R300 million at 10.28% - expiry date November 2010     
- R100 million at 8.81% - expiry date August 2012     
- R100 million at 9.14% - expiry date November 2012     
- R100 million at 9.31% - expiry date May 2012
- R300 million at 9.25% - expiry date November 2015     

Interest is payable quarterly in arrears. On expiry date of the  
agreements, the rate will revert back to a floating rate.     

13.1.3 ABSA Bank Limited    33 000   45 000   33 000   45 000 

The loan is secured in terms of a first mortgage bond over fixed property  
with a market value of R 91.6 million and a cession of leases and rentals  
in respect of the bonded properties.     

The loan facility is subject to review in September 2011.     

Interest is payable at Hyprop's election of either a fixed or floating interest  
rate. At year-end, the loan was linked to an overnight finance rate of 10.45%.     

Hyprop applies all surplus cash to its existing borrowing facilities to  
reduce gearing and interest rate costs.     
      1 135 748   1 125 911   1 135 748   1 125 911 
13.2 Borrowing powers     

In terms of its articles of association, the borrowing powers of the  
company, excluding the debentures, are limited to 55% of the directors’  
bona fide valuation of the company’s property portfolio.

14. DEFERRED TAXATION     

Change in fair value of investment property   1 145 831   736 804   984 734   630 133 
Change in fair value of listed property securities   21 259   4 683   21 259   4 683 
Tenant installations and building appurtenances   14 215   9 781   14 215   9 781 
Taxation loss   (11 722)  (8 313)  (11 722)  (8 313)
Straight-line rental income accrual   34 887   31 941   26 690   25 246 
Other temporary differences    11   240   (74)  (110)

      1 204 481   775 136   1 035 102   661 420 
Reconciliation of the movement in deferred taxation liability:     
Opening balance 1 January   775 136   396 982   661 420   341 777 
Change in statutory taxation rate    (13 233)   (11 393)
Change in fair value of investment property   409 027   378 157   354 601   319 312 
Change in fair value of listed property securities   16 576   4 278   16 576   4 278 
Tenant installations and building appurtenances   4 434   9 781   4 434   9 781 
Taxation loss   (3 409)  (8 079)  (3 409)  (8 079)
Straight-line rental income accrual   2 946   6 638   1 444   5 478 
Other temporary differences    (229)  612   36   266 

Closing balance    1 204 481   775 136   1 035 102   661 420 

15. INTEREST RECEIVED     

From tenants and positive bank balances   2 143   2 104   1 917   1 961 

16. INTEREST PAID     

Long-term loans   112 367   111 227   112 367   111 217 
Capitalised    (3 725)  (3 318)  (3 725)  (3 318)

      108 642   107 909   108 642   107 899
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17. NET OPERATING INCOME

 GROUP COMPANY

     2006 2005 2006 2005
     R000 R000 R000 R000

Net operating income is arrived at after accounting for the following:     

Contingent rental income (turnover rental)  13 688  8 087  11 198  6 417 

Depreciation   8 695   6 623   8 500   6 432 

Management fees     
- Asset management   25 061   19 163   25 061   19 163 
- Property management   18 602   13 445   17 915   12 803 

18. AUDITORS' REMUNERATION     

Audit fee - current year   960   899   918   767 
Adjustment in respect of the prior year   144    210  
Other services   359   79   346   79 

      1 463   978   1 474   846

19. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS     

Fee for services as directors      1 066   901 

Non-executive     
- MS Aitken (paid to Corovest Property Group Holdings (Proprietary) Limited)    102   85 
- J Bentel*       38 
- WE Cesman (paid to Madison)     142   100 
- EG Dube (paid to Vunani Capital (Proprietary) Limited)     97   56 
- PF Kirchmann      113   95 
- JR McAlpine (paid to Dalkeith Management Services (Proprietary) Limited)    102   69 
- S Shaw-Taylor (paid to The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited)     142   105 
- PJ Thurling (paid to Corovest Property Group Holdings (Proprietary) Limited)    122   90 
- M Wainer (paid to Madison)     82   75 
- SV Webb (paid to The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited)     82   75 
- PL Whewell*       38 
- LI Weil (paid to JH Isaacs Group Holdings (Proprietary) Limited)     82   75 

Executive     2 089   1 767 
- PG Prinsloo      2 004   1 767 
- LR Cohen#     85  

The cost of the executive directors' remuneration packages is borne  
by Hyprop Manco.     

# appointed December 2006  * resigned June 2005

20. TAXATION     

Deferred taxation   429 344   378 155   373 681   319 644 
Secondary taxation on companies    62    62 

      429 344   378 217   373 681   319 706 

No provision has been made for current taxation since the company has  
a loss for taxation purposes.

Reconciliation of taxation charge     

Net profit before taxation at 29%   493 710   421 122   401 954   346 247 
Permanent differences:     
- Amortisation of debenture premium   (10 222)  (1 469)  (10 222)  (1 469)
-  Share of income from associate   (10 861) 
-  Fair value adjustment to investment property   (6 730)  (12 002)  3 717   (12 002)
-  Fair value adjustment to listed property securities   (17 146)  (4 683)  (17 146)  (4 683)
-  Capital profit on disposal of investment property   (1 526)   (1 526) 
-  Other permanent differences    48   51   48   44 

Deferred taxation asset not recognised in prior year   (190)   (190) 
Adjustment to assessed loss   (2 954)  2 899   (2 954)  2 899 
Minority interest in permanent differences   (14 785)  (14 530) 
Secondary taxation on companies    62    62 
Change in statutory taxation rate    (13 233)   (11 392)

Taxation expense per the income statements    429 344   378 217   373 681   319 706



NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  for the year ended 31 December 2006 (continued)   
 

Annual Financial Statements 2006 - Hyprop Investments Limited 

Hyprop Investments Limited - Notes to the Annual Financial Statements Annual Report | 41    

21. EARNINGS, HEADLINE EARNINGS AND DISTRIBUTABLE EARNINGS  PER COMBINED UNIT

 GROUP COMPANY

     2006 2005 2006 2005
     R000 R000 R000 R000

At year-end, the company had 144 369 188 combined units in issue.  
The weighted average combined units in issue during the year was  
as follows:   
 - for earnings and headline earnings*   144 074 873   124 287 108 
 - for distributable earnings#   144 369 188   129 884 098 

* weighted from the date that the new Hyprop combined units were issued   

# weighted from the date that the new Hyprop combined units ranked for distribution   

Reconciliation - headline earnings and distributable earnings   

Net income after taxation - attributable to Hyprop combined unitholders  1 055 321   892 496 

Headline earnings adjustments   (547 981)  (599 754)

 Change in fair value of investment property (net of deferred  
 taxation and minority interests)   (885 135)  (860 296)
 Straight-line rental income accrual (net of deferred taxation  
 and minority interests)   13 054   13 412 
 Profit on disposal of investment property   (731)  (212)
 Debenture interest   324 831   247 342 

Headline earnings   507 340   292 742 

Distributable earnings adjustments   (183 241)  (46 094)

 Change in fair value of listed property securities (net of deferred taxation)  (99 423)  (27 616)

 Amortisation of debenture premium   (35 248)  (5 066)

 Straight-line rental income accrual (net of deferred taxation and  
 minority interests)   (13 054)  (13 412)

 Share of income from associate   (35 516) 

Distributable earnings   324 099   246 648 

     Cents   Cents

Earnings, headline earnings and distributable earnings per combined unit    

Earnings per combined unit    957.9   917.1 
Headline earnings per combined unit    352.1   235.5 
Distributable earnings per combined unit   224.5   189.9 

22. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENTS    

22.1 The following convention applies to figures other  
than  adjustments:    
Outflows of cash are represented by figures in brackets.    
Inflows of cash are represented by figures without brackets.    

22.2 Cash generated from operations    
Net income before taxation    1 702 448   1 452 146   1 386 047   1 193 955 
Adjustments    (1 209 846)  (1 046 002)  (948 667)  (838 507)

Change in fair value of investment property    (1 458 212)  (1 364 974)  (1 234 516)  (1 156 986)
Change in fair value of listed property securities   (116 284)  (32 299)  (116 284)  (32 299)
Profit on disposal of investment property   (731)   (731) 
Profit on disposal of listed property securities   (1 944)  (4 094)  (1 944)  (4 094)
Share of income from associate   (37 452)     
Depreciation    8 695   6 623   8 500   6 432 
Interest received   (2 143)  (2 104)  (1 917)  (1 961)
Interest paid   108 642   107 909   108 642   107 899 
Debenture interest    324 831   247 342   324 831   247 342 
Amortisation of debenture premium   (35 248)  (5 066)  (35 248)  (5 066)
Other non-cash items      661      226 

Operating profit before working capital changes    492 602   406 144   437 380   355 448 
Decrease in working capital   6 180   38 514   5 180   35 923 

(Increase) / decrease in receivables    (2 025)  6 423   (3 872)  9 165 
Increase in payables   8 205   32 091   9 052   26 758 

Cash generated from operations    498 782   444 658   442 560   391 371 
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22. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

 GROUP COMPANY

     2006 2005 2006 2005
     R000 R000 R000 R000

22.3 Taxation paid    

Taxation owing at the beginning of the year    (36)  (45)  (36)  (45)

Per income statement    (62)    (62)

Taxation owing at the end of the year     36    36 

      (36) (71) (36)  (71) 

22.4 Debenture interest paid to combined unitholders    

Interest payable at the beginning of the year    (141 422)  (86 132)  (141 422)  (86 132)

Per income statement   (324 831)  (247 342)  (324 831)  (247 342)

Interest payable at the end of the year   166 025   141 422   166 025   141 422

Interest payable at the end of the year   (300 228)  (192 052)  (300 228)  (192 052) 

22.5 Dividends paid to combined unitholders    

Dividends payable at the beginning of the year    (284)  (175)  (284)  (175)

Per statement of changes in equity     (498)   (498)

Dividends payable at the end of the year    284    284 

      (284)  (389)  (284)  (389)

23. COMMITMENTS    

23.1 Capital commitments    

Authorised capital expenditure    

Contracted for   579 036   58 399   571 650   58 399 

Not yet contracted for   11  574 000  11  516 600 

      579 047   632 399   571 661   574 999 
Capital commitments contracted for are made up as follows:    

Development costs - Stoneridge   543 536   51 000   543 536   51 000 

                                - Canal Walk   29 600   7 399   23 680   7 399 

                                - The Glen   5 900    4 434  

      579 036   58 399   571 650   58 399 

The above expenditure will be financed out of available cash resources  
and banking facilities.    

23.2 Operating expense commitments    

The group has entered into various service contracts for the cleaning,  
up-keep and general maintenance of its investment property portfolio.  
The total commitment in this regard for the coming year amounts to  
R15.8 million. The operating expense commitment for service contracts  
for the period 2008 to 2011 amounts to R1.2 million. There are no  
commitments for contracts beyond 2011.   

The operating expense commitment in the company for the coming year  
amounts to R13 million, while the the commitment for the period 2008  
to 2011 amounts to R1 million.

24. MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS RECEIVABLE    

Minimum lease payments comprise contractual rental income and  
operating expense recoveries from investment property.   

The minimum lease payments receivable from tenants have been  
classified into the following categories:    

- short-term ( less than 1 year )   517 776   497 600   445 692   433 200 

- medium-term ( greater than 1 year and less than 5 years )   1 244 194   1 400 000   1 055 757   1 200 000 

- long-term ( greater than 5 years )   413 430   329 200   355 368   297 400 

25. RETIREMENT BENEFITS    

The company has no formal or informal arrangement whereby benefits are provided on or after termination of services as all employees are currently 
employees of the management company, Hyprop Manco.  Hyprop Manco is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Madison.
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26. RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 GROUP COMPANY

     2006 2005 2006 2005
     R000 R000 R000 R000

Related parties with whom the company transacted  during the year were:    

Hyprop Manco    

Expenditure comprising: Asset management fee, management fee,  
letting commission and interest on loan  9 134   27 720   9 134   27 720

Rental income received  124   469   124   469 

Interest received on loan  58      58   

Relationship: Joint management and directorial    

Shareholders of Hyprop Manco (until 31 March 2006): FHP Managers  
(Proprietary) Limited, Corovest Property Group Limited and Madison each  
held a 30% share, while JH Isaacs Group Holdings (Proprietary) Limited  
held a 10% share (On 1 April 2006, Hyprop Manco became a wholly- 
owned subsidiary of Madison)    

Amount owing at year-end to Hyprop Manco    4 859    4 859 

The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited    

Expenditure comprising: Interest on borrowings    108 028   105 807   108 028   105 807 

Rental income received   6 333   4 852   5 150   4 002 

Relationship: Employees represented on Hyprop board    

Canal Walk Manco                 

Expenditure comprising: Management fee and letting commission   5 546   4 732   4 437   3 786  

Relationship: Joint management and directorial    

Shareholders of Canal Walk Manco: Madison holds an 80% share and  
Ellerine Bros (Proprietary) Limited holds a 20% share.    

JHI Real Estate Limited                 

Expenditure comprising: Property management and letting commission   4 749   4 552   4 749   4 552 

Relationship: Directorial    

Madison                

Expenditure comprising:     

- Asset management fee   18 851    18 851  

- Property management fee   8 859    8 859  

- Promoters' fee     4 442    4 442 

- Development fee    675    675 

- Consulting fee   864   55   691   55 

- Letting commission   1 348    1 348  

Rental income received   373    373  

Relationship: Directorial    

Vunani Property Investment Trust    

Sale of investment properties   174 500    174 500  

Relationship: Directorial

Vunani Property Fund Management Trust    

Expenditure comprising: Asset management fee paid by associate   86  

Relationship: Trustee    

PG Prinsloo    

Sale of Rivonia Service Station    2 800    2 800 

Relationship: Directorial

Key management personnel    

The group’s key management personnel are employed and remunerated 
by Hyprop Manco and Canal Walk Manco.

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The company's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, loans from banks, receivables, interest rate fixes, listed property securities, 
debentures and payables. In respect of the above mentioned financial instruments, book values approximate fair value. Exposure to interest rate, credit and 
liquidity risks occurs in the normal course of business.
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

Interest rate risk     
The company's exposure to interest rate risk and interest rates on financial instruments at balance sheet date were:   

    Weighted  
     average effective 1 year  5 years 
    interest rate or less 1-5 years or more Total

    % R000 R000 R000 R000

Year ended 31 December 2006
Financial assets     
Receivables   58 110     58 110 
Listed property securities - non-current  9   1 135 019     1 135 019 
Cash and cash equivalents   28 056     28 056 

Total financial assets    1 221 185    1 221 185 

Financial liabilities     
Debenture capital  Variable     1 771 757   1 771 757 
Interest-bearing borrowings  9.8    535 748   600 000   1 135 748 
Payables   100 055     100 055 
Combined unitholders for distribtuion   166 025     166 025 

Total financial liabilities    266 080   535 748   2 371 757   3 173 585 

Year ended 31 December 2005
Financial assets     
Receivables   56 084     56 084 
Listed property securities - non-current  Variable    942 315    942 315 
Listed property securities - current  Variable   8 759     8 759 
Cash and cash equivalents   24 520     24 520 

Total financial assets    89 363   942 315    1 031 678 

Financial liabilities     
Debenture capital  Variable     1 762 591   1 762 591 
Interest-bearing borrowings  10.1     1 125 911   1 125 911 
Payables   91 851     91 851 
Taxation    36     36 
Combined unitholders for distribution  Variable   141 706     141 706 

Total financial liabilities    233 593     2 888 502   3 122 095 

Interest rates are constantly monitored and appropriate steps are taken to ensure that Hyprop's exposure to interest rate fluctuations is limited. During the year 
interest rates were fixed in respect of 79% of borrowings for periods exceeding three years. The average rate of interest at year-end was 9.8% (2005:10.1%)

Credit risk    
Credit risk arises from the risk that a counterparty may default or not meet its obligations timeously.

Receivables    
Trade receivables consists of a large, wide-spread tenant base. The financial position of these tenants is monitored on an ongoing basis. Provision is made 
for all specific doubtful debts at year-end. Management does not consider there to be any material credit risk exposure that is not already covered by a 
doubtful debt allowance.    

Listed property securities    
Listed property securities included in non-current assets represent Hyprop's investment in SA Retail. The value of this investment is monitored closely 
by management and the credit risk exposure is regarded as minimal.    

Cash and cash equivalents    
It is company policy to deposit short-term cash investments with reputable financial institutions.  

Liquidity risk    

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will be unable to meet a financial commitment. This risk is minimised by holding cash balances and by a floating 
loan facility. In addition, the company monitors liquidity risk by regularly monitoring forecast cash flows.

The company's borrowings are limited by its articles of association to 55% of the directors' bona fide valuation of the consolidated property portfolio.

  COMPANY

       2006 2005
       R000 R000

The company's utilised borrowing capacity at 31 December can be summarised as follows:    
Value of property portfolio *    6 732 637 5 390 695
55% thereof    3 702 950  2 964 882 
Total borrowings    1 135 748  1 125 911 

Unutilised borrowing capacity    2 567 202  1 838 971 

* Excludes minority interest in investment property and includes listed property securitites.



    PROPERTY PORTFOLIO INCOME STATEMENT BALANCE SHEET

Business segment      Net  
        property 
      Value   income    Long- 
     Total  attributable  (including Historic   term 
    GLA value to Hyprop Revenue minorities)    yield# Receivables Payables  loans

    m2 R000 R000 R000 R000 % R000 R000 R000

2006         

Canal Walk  132 316   3 250 000   2 600 000   288 073   195 661   6.0   21 060   47 889  

The Glen  51 464   1 117 000   839 426   95 520   69 252   6.2   533   4 393  

Hyde Park  37 102   920 000   920 000   85 813   58 639   6.4   1 088   2 988  

The Mall  33 774   700 000   700 000   71 805   47 218   6.7   4 222   4 002  

Southcoast Mall  27 642   274 000   137 000   14 188   9 665   7.1   1 144   3 287  

Stoneridge   57 832   57 832  

Shopping centres 282 298   6 318 832   5 254 258   555 399   380 435    28 047   62 559  

Offices   44 604   343 360   343 360   74 886   50 731    3 674   16 576  

Investment property  326 902   6 662 192   5 597 618   630 285   431 166    31 721   79 135  

Listed property securities   1 135 019   1 135 019   81 861   81 861  

Straight-line rental  
income accrual     26 235   26 235     

Fund management      (29 120)   26 389   20 920  1 135 748 

     326 902   7 797 211   6 732 637   738 381   510 142    58 110   100 055  1 135 748 

2005         

Canal Walk  131 320   2 500 000   2 000 000   263 528   175 758   7.0   17 203   40 883  

The Glen  51 800   830 700   624 271   83 827   60 031   7.2   2 602   8 082  

Hyde Park  37 121   725 000   725 000   79 425   53 778   7.4   2 385   2 071  

The Mall  33 774   537 400   537 400   66 867   41 836   7.8   2 151   2 440  

Southcoast Mall  27 642   206 300   103 150   1 741   838    5 019   3 574  

Shopping centres  281 657   4 799 400   3 989 821   495 388   332 241    29 360   57 050  

Offices   69 120   449 800   449 800   76 115   50 045    901   3 786  

Investment property  350 777   5 249 200   4 439 621   571 503   382 286    30 261   60 836  

Listed property securities   951 074   951 074    40 649  

Straight-line rental  
income accrual      22 889  

Fund management      (24 287)   25 823   31 015  1 125 911 

     350 777   6 200 274   5 390 695   571 503   421 537   56 084  91 851  1 125 911 

# Based on net property income and total value         

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS
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Geographical profile by GLA (m2)*

Gauteng 166 944 51.07%
Cape 132 316 40.48%
KwaZulu-Natal 27 642 8.45%

326 902 100.00%

Geographical profile by revenue (R)*#

Gauteng 328 024 52.04%
Cape 288 073 45.71%
KwaZulu-Natal 14 188 2.25%

630 285 100.00%

Sectoral profile by GLA (m2)*

Shopping centres 282 298 86.36%
Offices 44 604 13.64%

326 902 100.00%

Sectoral profile by revenue (R)*#

Shopping centres 555 399 88.12%
Offices 74 886 11.88%

630 285 100.00%

* In respect of investment property only (excludes listed property securities)
# Includes minority interests

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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We declare that, to the best of our knowledge, the company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required of a public  
company in terms of the South African Companies Act 1973, and that all such returns are true, correct and up-to-date.

Probity Business Services (Proprietary) Limited
Company secretary

Johannesburg
1 March 2007

The annual financial statements set out on pages 26 to 46 are the 

responsibility of the directors. The directors are responsible for selecting 

and adopting sound accounting practices, for maintaining an adequate 

and effective system of accounting records, for safeguarding assets and 

for developing and maintaining a system of internal control that, among 

other things, will ensure the preparation of annual financial statements 

that achieve fair presentation. The annual financial statements set out in 

this annual report have been prepared by the directors in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards. They are based on appropriate 

accounting policies which have been consistently applied, unless otherwise 

indicated, and which are supported by reasonable and prudent judgments 

and estimates.

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the going concern 

basis since the directors have every reason to believe that the company and 

the group have adequate resources in place to continue operations for the 

foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting 

on these annual financial statements in conformity with International 

Standards on Auditing.

The annual financial statements were approved by the board and were 

signed on its behalf by:

 

PG Prinsloo PF Kirchmann
CEO    Chairman

Johannesburg
1 March 2007

APPROVAL OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS     

Annual Financial Statements 2006 - Hyprop Investments Limited 

Hyprop Investments Limited - Approval of Annual Financial Statements • Declaration by Company Secretary • Report of the Independent Auditors Annual Report | 47    

DECLARATION BY COMPANY SECRETARY     

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Report of the independent auditors to the members of Hyprop Investments 
Limited.

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the annual financial statements and group annual financial 
statements of Hyprop Investments Limited, which comprise the directors’ 
report, the balance sheets as at 31 December 2006, the income statements,  
the statements of changes in equity and cash flow statements for the  
year then ended, a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes, as set out on pages 26 to 46.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the 
Companies Act of South Africa. This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures  
selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are  
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and  
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the annual financial statements present fairly, in all material  
respects, the financial position of the company and the group as of  
31 December 2006, and of their financial performance and their cash  
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the Companies Act of 
South Africa.

Grant Thornton 
Chartered Accountants (SA)
Registered Auditors

Per: CV Amoils
Chartered Accountant (SA) 
Registered Auditor

137 Daisy Street
Sandown 2196
Johannesburg

1 March 2007



      Distribution 2006 2005
      number (cents) (cents)

Interest on debentures      225.00   189.62 

 Six months to 30 June 2005   35   90.82 

 Six months to 31 December 2005   36   98.80 

 Six months to 30 June 2006   37  110.00  

 Six months to 31 December 2006   38  115.00  

Dividends on ordinary shares       0.38 

 Six months to 30 June 2005   35   0.18 

 Six months to 31 December 2005   36   0.20 

        225.00   190.00 

Hyprop Investments Limited
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COMBINED UNITHOLDERS’ DIARY     

Financial year-end   31 December

Publication of financial results    1 March 2007

Annual general meeting     12 June 2007

Annual report posted to combined unitholders    May 2007

Interim report posted to combined unitholders    August 2007

Distributions 

Final for 2006   March 2007

Interim for 2007   September 2007

DISTRIBUTION DETAILS  for the year ended 31 December 2006     



NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS      

Hyprop Investments Limited
Registration number 1987/005284/06
(“Hyprop” or “the company”)
Share code: HYP 
ISIN code: ZAE 000003430

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of shareholders of 
Hyprop will be held at the offices of Hyprop, 3rd Floor, North Wing, Hyde Park 
Shopping Centre, Jan Smuts Avenue, on Tuesday, 12 June 2007 at 09:30 for 
the purposes of:

• considering and adopting the annual financial statements of the company 
for the year ended 31 December 2006;

• considering and, if deemed fit, adopting with or without modification, the 
special and ordinary resolutions set out below; and

• transacting any other business as may be transacted at an annual general 
meeting.

Ordinary Resolution 1: Adoption of annual financial statements

“Resolved that the annual financial statements of the company for the year 
ended 31 December 2006 be and are received and adopted.”

Ordinary Resolution 2: Re-election of director

“Resolved that PF Kirchmann who retires by rotation in terms of the 
company’s articles of association and who, being eligible, offers himself for 
re-election, be re-elected as a director of the company.”

An abridged curriculum vitae in respect of PF Kirchmann is set out on page 
18 of the annual report of which this notice forms part.

Ordinary Resolution 3: Re-election of director

“Resolved that PG Prinsloo who retires by rotation in terms of the company’s 
articles of association and who, being eligible, offers himself for re-election, 
be re-elected as a director of the company.”

An abridged curriculum vitae in respect of PG Prinsloo is set out on page 18 
of the annual report of which this notice forms part.

Ordinary Resolution 4: Re-election of director

“Resolved that LI Weil who retires by rotation in terms of the company’s 
articles of association and who, being eligible, offers himself for re-election, 
be re-elected as a director of the company.”

An abridged curriculum vitae in respect of LI Weil is set out on page 19 of 
the annual report of which this notice forms part.

Ordinary Resolution 5: Re-election of director

“Resolved that LR Cohen who retires in terms of the company’s articles  
of association and who, being eligible, offers himself for re-election, be re-
elected as a director of the company.”

An abridged curriculum vitae in respect of LR Cohen is set out on page 18 of 
the annual report of which this notice forms part.

Ordinary Resolution 6: Re-election of director

“Resolved that MY Sibisi who retires in terms of the company’s articles 
of association and who, being eligible, offers herself for re-election, be  
re-elected as a director of the company.”

An abridged curriculum vitae in respect of MY Sibisi is set out on page 18 of 
the annual report of which this notice forms part.

Ordinary Resolution 7: Re-appointment of auditors

“Resolved that Grant Thornton be re-appointed as the auditors of the  
company.”

Ordinary Resolution 8: Unissued ordinary combined units

“Resolved that all authorised but unissued combined units of the company 
be placed under the control of the directors of the company until the next 
annual general meeting, with the authority to allot and issue all or part 
thereof in their discretion, subject to sections 221 and 222 of the Companies 
Act, 1973, as amended, and the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited.”

Ordinary Resolution 9: Issue of combined units for cash

“Resolved that, pursuant to the articles of association of the company, 
the directors of the company be and are hereby authorised until this 
authority lapses at the next annual general meeting of the company, 
provided that this authority shall not extend beyond 15 months, to allot 

and issue combined units for cash subject to the Listings Requirements 
of the JSE Limited (“JSE”) and the Companies Act, 61 of 1973, on the 
following bases:

a) the allotment and issue of combined units for cash shall be made only 
to persons qualifying as public shareholders as defined in the Listings 
Requirements of the JSE and not to related parties;

b) the number of combined units issued for cash shall not in the aggregate 
in the financial year of the company (which commenced 1 January 2007)  
exceed 5% of the company’s issued combined units. The number of  
combined units which may be issued for cash shall be based on the  
number of combined units in issue at the date of the application, less 
any combined units issued by the company during the current financial 
year, provided that any combined units to be issued for cash pursuant to a 
rights issue (announced and irrevocable and underwritten) or acquisition 
(concluded up to the date of application) may be included as though they 
were combined units in issue at the date of application;

c) the maximum discount at which combined units may be issued for cash 
is 10% of the weighted average price on the JSE of those combined units 
over 30 days prior to the date that the price of the issue is determined by 
the directors of the company;

d) after the company has issued combined units for cash which represent, 
on a cumulative basis within a financial year 5% or more of the number 
of combined units in issue prior to that issue, the company shall publish 
an announcement containing full details of the issue, including the effect 
of the issue on the net asset value and earnings per combined unit of the 
company; and

e) the combined units which are the subject of the issue for cash must be 
of a class already in issue, or where this is not the case, must be limited 
to such combined units or rights as are convertible into a class already 
in issue.”

In terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE a 75% majority of the  
votes cast by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the annual 
general meeting must be cast in favour of Ordinary Resolution 9 for it to be 
approved.

Ordinary Resolution 10: Confirmation of directors’ remuneration

“Resolved that the remuneration of directors for the year as set out on 
page 40 of the annual report of which this notice forms part, be and is  
confirmed”.

Ordinary Resolution 11: Signature of documentation

“Resolved that a director of the company or the company secretary be and 
is hereby authorised to sign all such documentation and do all such things 
as may be necessary for or incidental to the implementation of Ordinary 
Resolution numbers 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10 and Special Resolution 
number 1, which are passed by the shareholders with and subject to the 
terms thereof.”

Special Resolution 1: Combined unit repurchases

“Resolved that the directors be authorised in terms of the company’s  
articles of association, until this authority lapses at the next annual  
general meeting of the company unless it is then renewed at the next  
annual general meeting of the company and provided that this authority  
shall not extend beyond 15 months, to enable the company or any  
subsidiary of the company to acquire combined units of the company  
subject to the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited (“JSE”) and the  
Companies Act, 61 of 1973, as amended, on the following bases:

a) the acquisition of combined units must be implemented through the order 
book operated by the JSE trading system without any prior understanding 
or arrangement between the company and the counterparty;

b) the company (or any subsidiary) must be authorised to do so in terms of 
its articles of association;

c) the number of combined units which may be acquired pursuant to this 
authority in any financial year (which commenced 1 January 2007) may 
not in the aggregate exceed 20% of the company’s share capital as at the 
date of this notice of annual general meeting;

Hyprop Investments Limited 
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)      

Hyprop Investments Limited
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d) repurchases may not be made at a price more than 10% above the  
weighted average of the market value on the JSE of the combined  
units in question for the five business days immediately preceding the 
repurchase;

e) repurchases may not take place during a prohibited period in compliance 
with paragraph 3.67 of the Listings Requirements of the JSE;

f) after the company has acquired combined units which constitute, on a  
cumulative basis, 3% of the number of combined units in issue (at the time 
that authority from combined unitholders for the repurchase is granted), 
the company shall publish an announcement to such effect; 

g) the company’s sponsor must confirm the adequacy of the company’s 
working capital for purposes of undertaking the repurchase of combined 
units in writing to the JSE prior to the company (or any subsidiary)  
entering the market to proceed with the repurchase;

h) the company must remain in compliance with paragraphs 3.37 to 3.41 of 
the Listings Requirements of the JSE concerning unitholder spread after 
such repurchase; and

i) the company (or any subsidiary) shall appoint only one agent to effect 
repurchases on its behalf.”

In accordance with the Listings Requirements of the JSE the directors record 
that: 

Although there is no immediate intention to effect a repurchase of the  
combined units of the company, the directors would utilise the general  
authority to repurchase combined units as and when suitable opportunities 
present themselves, which may require immediate action.

The directors, after considering the maximum number of combined units 
that may be repurchased and the price at which the repurchases may take 
place pursuant to the general buyback authority, are of the opinion that for a 
period of 12 months after the date of this annual general meeting:

• the company and the group will be able to pay its debts in the ordinary 
course of business;

• the consolidated assets of the company and the group fairly valued in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, will be in 
excess of the consolidated liabilities of the company and the group after 
the buyback; and

• the company’s and the group’s share capital, reserves and working capital 
will be adequate for ordinary business purposes.

The following additional information, some of which may appear elsewhere 
in the annual report of which this notice forms part, is provided in terms of 
the Listings Requirements of the JSE for purposes of this general authority:
• Directors - pages 18 and 19;
• Major beneficial unitholders - page 37;
• Directors’ interests in combined units - page 26; and
• Capital structure of the company - page 36.

Litigation statement

In terms of section 11.26 of the Listings Requirements of the JSE, the  
directors, whose names appear on pages 18 and 19 of the annual report 
of which this notice forms part, are not aware of any legal or arbitration  
proceedings including proceedings that are pending or threatened, that may 
have or have had in the recent past (being at least the previous 12 months) 
a material effect on the group’s financial position.

Directors’ responsibility statement

The directors whose names appear on pages 18 and 19 of the annual report 
of which this notice forms part, collectively and individually accept full  
responsibility for the accuracy of the information pertaining to this special 
resolution and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief,  
there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any statement 
false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts 
have been made and that the special resolution contains all information 
required by the Companies Act, 61 of 1973, as amended, and the Listings 
Requirements of the JSE.

Material changes

Other than the facts and developments reported on in the annual report  
of which this notice forms part, there have been no material changes in the 
affairs or financial position of the company and its subsidiaries since the 
date of signature of the audit report and up to the date of this notice.

Reason for and effect of Special Resolution 1

The reason for Special Resolution number 1 is to afford directors of the  
company a general authority for the company (or a subsidiary of the  
company) to effect a buyback of the company’s combined units on the JSE.  
The effect of the resolution will be that the directors will have the authority,  
subject to the Listings Requirements of the JSE and the Companies Act, 61 
of 1973, as amended, to effect acquisitions of the company’s combined units 
on the JSE.

Voting, proxies and quorum

Each of Hyprop’s combined units comprises one ordinary share  
and one debenture. Certificated and own-name dematerialised  
shareholders are therefore advised that they must complete a  
separate form of proxy for shareholders and for debenture  
holders in order for their vote/s to be valid. The form of proxy 
for certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders is set 
out on page 53 of the annual report and the form of proxy for  
certificated and own-name dematerialised debenture holders is set 
out on page 55 of the annual report.

A shareholder of the company entitled to attend, speak and vote at the  
annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, 
speak and to vote in his stead. The proxy need not be a shareholder of the 
company.

On a show of hands, every shareholder of the company present in person or 
represented by proxy shall have one vote only. On a poll, every shareholder 
of the company present in person or represented by proxy shall have one 
vote for every share held in the company by such shareholder.

A form of proxy is attached for the convenience of certificated and own-name 
dematerialised shareholders holding shares in the company who cannot  
attend the annual general meeting but wish to be represented thereat.  
Such shareholders must complete and return the attached form of 
proxy and lodge it with the transfer secretaries of the company.

Dematerialised shareholders who have not elected own-name registration 
in the sub-register of the company through a Central Securities Depository 
Participant (“CSDP”) and who wish to attend the annual general meeting, 
must instruct the CSDP or broker to provide them with the necessary  
authority to attend.

Dematerialised shareholders who have not elected own-name registration 
in the sub-register of the company through a CSDP and who are unable to 
attend, but wish to vote at the annual general meeting, must timeously  
provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the 
custody agreement entered into between that shareholder and the CSDP 
or broker. Such shareholders are advised that they must provide their 
CSDP or broker with separate voting instructions in respect of the 
shares and the debentures in terms of their combined units.

Forms of proxy may also be obtained on request from the company’s  
registered office. The completed forms of proxy must be deposited at, posted 
or faxed to the transfer secretaries Computershare Investor Services 2004 
(Proprietary) Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107), to be received at least 48 hours prior to 
the meeting. Any shareholder who completes and lodges a form of proxy will 
nevertheless be entitled to attend and vote in person at the annual general 
meeting should the shareholder subsequently decide to do so.

The annual general meeting shall be quorate if at least three shareholders 
are personally present (or if the member is a body corporate the body  
corporate must be represented) and entitled to vote throughout the meeting.  

By order of the board.

Probity Business Services (Proprietary) Limited
Company Secretary

Registered office  Transfer secretaries
3rd Floor  Computershare Investor Services 2004
North Wing  (Proprietary) Limited
Hyde Park Shopping Centre  Ground Floor
Jan Smuts Avenue  70 Marshall Street
Sandton  Johannesburg
2196   2001
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Hyprop Investments Limited
Registration number 1987/005284/06
(“Hyprop” or “the company”)
Share code: HYP 
ISIN code: ZAE 000003430

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of debenture  
holders of Hyprop will be held at the offices of Hyprop, 3rd Floor, North Wing, 
Hyde Park Shopping Centre, Jan Smuts Avenue, on Tuesday, 12 June 2007 
at 10:00 (or immediately after the conclusion of the shareholders’ meeting, 
whichever is the later) for the purposes of:

• considering and adopting the annual financial statements of the company 
for the year ended 31 December 2006;

• considering and, if deemed fit, adopting with or without modification,  
the debenture resolutions set out below; and

• transacting any other business as may be transacted at an annual general 
meeting.

Debenture Resolution 1: Unissued ordinary combined units

“Resolved that all authorised but unissued combined units of the company 
be placed under the control of the directors of the company until the  
next annual general meeting, with the authority to allot and issue all or 
part thereof in their discretion, subject to sections 221 and 222 of the  
Companies Act, 61 of 1973, as amended, and the Listings Requirements of 
the JSE Limited.”

This resolution is classed as a debenture ordinary resolution and as such is 
required to be passed by a simple majority of debenture holders present in 
person or represented by proxy at the meeting.

Debenture Resolution 2: Issue of combined units for cash

“Resolved that, pursuant to the articles of association of the company and 
the Debenture Trust Deed, the directors of the company be and are hereby 
authorised until this authority lapses at the next annual general meeting 
of the company, provided that this authority shall not extend beyond 15 
months, to allot and issue combined units for cash subject to the Listings 
Requirements of the JSE Limited (“JSE”) and the Companies Act, 61 of 1973, 
on the following bases:

a) the allotment and issue of combined units for cash shall be made only 
to persons qualifying as public unitholders as defined in the Listings  
Requirements of the JSE and not to related parties;

b) the number of combined units issued for cash shall not in the aggregate 
in the financial year of the company (which commenced 1 January 2007)  
exceed 5% of the company’s issued combined units. The number of  
combined units which may be issued for cash shall be based on the  
number of combined units in issue at the date of the application, less 
any combined units issued by the company during the current financial 
year, provided that any combined units to be issued for cash pursuant to a 
rights issue (announced and irrevocable and underwritten) or acquisition 
(concluded up to the date of application) may be included as though they 
were combined units in issue at the date of application;

c) the maximum discount at which combined units may be issued for cash 
is 10% of the weighted average price on the JSE of those combined units 
over 30 days prior to the date that the price of the issue is determined by 
the directors of the company;

d) after the company has issued combined units for cash which represent, 
on a cumulative basis within a financial year, 5% or more of the number 
of combined units in issue prior to that issue, the company shall publish 
an announcement containing full details of the issue, including the effect 
of the issue on the net asset value and earning per combined unit of the 
company; and

e) the combined units which are the subject of the issue for cash must be 
of a class already in issue, or where this is not the case, must be limited 
to such combined units or rights as are convertible into a class already in 
issue.”

In terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE a 75% majority of the votes 
cast by debenture holders present in person or represented by proxy at the 
annual general meeting must be cast in favour of Debenture Resolution 2 
for it to be approved.

Debenture Resolution 3: Combined unit repurchases

“Resolved that the directors be authorised in terms of the company’s articles 
of association, until this authority lapses at the next annual general  
meeting of the company, provided that this authority shall not extend  
beyond 15 months, to enable the company or any subsidiary of the  
company to acquire combined units of the company subject to the Listings 
Requirements of the JSE Limited (“JSE”) and the Companies Act, 61 of 1973, 
as amended, on the following bases:

a) the acquisition of combined units must be implemented through the order 
book operated by the JSE trading system without any prior understanding 
or arrangement between the company and the counterparty;

b) the company (or any subsidiary) must be authorised to do so in terms of 
its articles of association;

c) the number of combined units which may be acquired pursuant to this 
authority in the financial year (which commenced 1 January 2007) may 
not in the aggregate exceed 20% of the company’s issued combined units 
as at the date of this notice of annual general meeting;

d) repurchases may not be made at a price more than 10% above the weighted 
average of the market value on the JSE of the combined units in question for 
the five business days immediately preceding the repurchase;

e) repurchases may not take place during a prohibited period in compliance 
with paragraph 3.67 of the Listings Requirements of the JSE;

f) after the company has acquired combined units which constitute, on a  
cumulative basis, 3% of the number of combined units in issue (at the  
time that authority from combined unitholders for the repurchase is 
granted), the company shall publish an announcement to such effect;

g) the company’s sponsor must confirm the adequacy of the company’s 
working capital for purposes of undertaking the repurchase of combined 
units in writing to the JSE prior to the company (or any subsidiary)  
entering the market to proceed with the repurchase;

h) the company must remain in compliance with paragraphs 3.37 to 3.41 of 
the Listings Requirements of the JSE concerning unitholder spread after 
such repurchase; and

i) the company (or any subsidiary) shall appoint only one agent to effect 
repurchases on its behalf.”

In accordance with the Listing Requirements of the JSE the directors record 
that:

Although there is no immediate intention to effect a repurchase of the  
combined units of the company, the directors would utilise the general  
authority to repurchase combined units as and when suitable opportunities 
present themselves, which may require immediate action.

The directors, after considering the maximum number of combined units 
that may be repurchased and the price at which the repurchases may take 
place pursuant to the general buyback authority, are of the opinion that for a 
period of 12 months after the date of this annual general meeting:

• the company and the group will be able to pay its debts in the ordinary 
course of business;

• the consolidated assets of the company and the group fairly valued in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, will be in 
excess of the consolidated liabilities of the company and the group after 
the buyback; and

• the company’s and the group’s share capital, reserves and working capital 
will be adequate for ordinary business purposes.

The following additional information, some of which may appear elsewhere 
in the annual report of which this notice forms part, is provided in terms of 
the Listings Requirements of the JSE for purposes of this general authority:
• Directors - pages 18 and 19;
• Major beneficial unitholders - page 37;
• Directors’ interests in combined units - page 26; and
• Capital structure of the company - page 36.

Litigation statement

In terms of section 11.26 of the Listings Requirements of the JSE, the  
directors, whose names appear on pages 18 and 19 of the annual report 
of which this notice forms part, are not aware of any legal or arbitration  

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF DEBENTURE HOLDERS      



Hyprop Investments Limited

52 | Annual Report  Hyprop Investments Limited - Notice of Annual General Meeting of Debenture Holders 

proceedings including proceedings that are pending or threatened, that may 
have or have had in the recent past (being at least the previous 12 months) 
a material effect on the group’s financial position.

Directors’ responsibility statement

The directors whose names appear on pages 18 and 19 of the annual  
report of which this notice forms part, collectively and individually accept  
full responsibility for the accuracy of the information pertaining to this  
debenture resolution and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and 
belief, there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any 
statement false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain 
such facts have been made and that the debenture resolution contains all 
information required by the Companies Act, 61 of 1973, as amended, and the 
Listings Requirements of the JSE.

Material changes

Other than the facts and developments reported on in the annual report  
of which this notice forms part, there have been no material changes in the 
affairs or financial position of the company and its subsidiaries since the 
date of signature of the audit report and up to the date of this notice.

In terms of the Debenture Trust Deed, the resolution is classed as a  
debenture special resolution and as such is required to be passed by a 
majority consisting of not less than 75% of the debenture holders present in 
person or represented by proxy at the meeting.

Debenture Resolution 4: Signature of documentation

“Resolved that a director of the company or the company secretary be  
and is hereby authorised to sign all such documentation and do all such 
things as may be necessary for or incidental to the implementation of  
Debenture Resolution numbers 1, 2 and 3, which are passed by the  
combined unitholders with and subject to the terms thereof.”

This resolution is classed as a debenture ordinary resolution and as such is 
required to be passed by a simple majority of debenture holders present in 
person or represented by proxy at the meeting.

Voting, proxies and quorum

Each of Hyprop’s combined units comprises one ordinary share and 
one debenture. Certificated and own-name dematerialised debenture 
holders are therefore advised that they must complete a separate form 
of proxy for shareholders and for debenture holders in order for their 
vote/s to be valid. The form of proxy for certificated and own-name 
dematerialised shareholders is set out on page 53 of the annual report 
and the form of proxy for certificated and own-name dematerialised 
debenture holders is set out on page 55 of the annual report.

A debenture holder of the company entitled to attend, speak and vote at the 
annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, 
speak and to vote in his stead. The proxy need not be a debenture holder of 
the company.

On a show of hands, every debenture holder of the company present in  
person or represented by proxy shall have one vote only. On a poll, every 
debenture holder of the company present in person or represented by  
proxy shall have one vote for every debenture held in the company by such 
debenture holder.

A form of proxy is attached for the convenience of certificated and own-
name dematerialised debenture holders holding debentures in the company 
who cannot attend the annual general meeting but wish to be represented 
thereat. Such debenture holders must complete and return the attached 
form of proxy and lodge it with the transfer secretaries of the company.

Dematerialised debenture holders who have not elected own-name  
registration in the sub-register of the company through a Central Securities 
Depository Participant (“CSDP”) and who wish to attend the annual general 
meeting, must instruct the CSDP or broker to provide them with the  
necessary authority to attend.

Dematerialised debenture holders who have not elected own-name  
registration in the sub-register of the company through a CSDP and who 
are unable to attend, but wish to vote at the annual general meeting, must  
timeously provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in 
terms of the custody agreement entered into between that debenture holder 
and the CSDP or broker. Such debenture holders are advised that they 
must provide their CSDP or broker with separate voting instructions in 
respect of the shares and the debentures in terms of their combined 
units.

Forms of proxy may also be obtained on request from the company’s  
registered office. The completed forms of proxy must be deposited at, posted 
or faxed to the transfer secretaries Computershare Investor Services 2004 
(Proprietary) Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107), to be received at least 48 hours prior 
to the meeting. Any debenture holder who completes and lodges a form  
of proxy will nevertheless be entitled to attend and vote in person at the 
annual general meeting should the debenture holder subsequently decide 
to do so.

A quorum at a meeting shall:

• for the purposes of considering a debenture ordinary resolution, consist of 
debenture holders present in person or represented by proxy and holding 
in the aggregate not less than one-tenth of the debentures in issue; and

• for the purposes of considering a debenture special resolution, consist of 
debenture holders present in person or represented by proxy and holding 
in the aggregate not less than the number of the debentures in issue 
representing a clear majority of those debentures in issue, which quorum, 
must be present throughout the meeting.

By order of the board.

Probity Business Services (Proprietary) Limited
Company Secretary

Registered office  Transfer secretaries
3rd Floor  Computershare Investor Services 2004
North Wing  (Proprietary) Limited
Hyde Park Shopping Centre  Ground Floor
Jan Smuts Avenue  70 Marshall Street
Sandton  Johannesburg
2196   2001
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Hyprop Investments Limited
Registration number 1987/005284/06
(“Hyprop” or “the company”)
Share code: HYP 
ISIN code: ZAE 000003430

Each of Hyprop’s combined units comprises one ordinary share and one debenture. Certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders are 
therefore advised that they must complete a separate form of proxy for certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders and a separate 
form of proxy for certificated and own-name dematerialised debenture holders in order for their vote/s to be valid. The form of proxy for  
certificated and own-name dematerialised debenture holders is set out on page 55 of the annual report.

This form of proxy is for use by the holders of the company’s certificated ordinary shares and/or dematerialised ordinary shares held through a Central  
Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker who have selected own-name registration and who cannot attend but wish to be represented at the 
annual general meeting of the company at the offices of Hyprop, 3rd Floor, North Wing, Hyde Park Shopping Centre, Jan Smuts Avenue, Sandton, or any 
adjournment if required. Additional forms of proxy are available at the company’s registered office.

Not for the use by holders of the company’s dematerialised ordinary shares who have not selected own-name registration. Such shareholders must  
contact their CSDP or broker timeously if they wish to attend and vote at the annual general meeting and request that they be issued with the necessary 
authorisation to do so, or provide the CSDP or broker timeously with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend the annual general meeting but 
wish to be represented thereat, in order for the CSDP or broker to vote in accordance with their instructions.

For use at the annual general meeting on Tuesday, 12 June 2007 at 09:30.

I/We      (Name in block letters)

of          (Address)

being the registered holder of                   shares hereby

appoint:   of   

or failing him/her,  of 

or failing him/her, the chairperson of the general meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the  
company to be held on Tuesday, 12 June 2007 at 09:30 and at any adjournment thereof.

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces how you wish your votes to be cast. Unless this is done the proxy will vote as he/she thinks fit.

     In favour of Against Abstain

Ordinary Resolution 1
To receive and adopt the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2006

Ordinary Resolution 2
To re-elect PF Kirchmann as a director of the company

Ordinary Resolution 3
To re-elect PG Prinsloo as a director of the company

Ordinary Resolution 4
To re-elect LI Weil as a director of the company

Ordinary Resolution 5
To re-elect LR Cohen as a director of the company

Ordinary Resolution 6
To re-elect MY Sibisi as a director of the company

Ordinary Resolution 7
To re-appoint Grant Thornton as auditors of the company

Ordinary Resolution 8 
To place the unissued combined units under the control of directors

Ordinary Resolution 9
General authority to enable the company to issue for cash up to 5% of the authorised  
but unissued combined units

Ordinary Resolution 10
To confirm the remuneration of directors

Ordinary Resolution 11
To authorise the signature of documentation

Special Resolution 1
General authority to enable the company (or any subsidiary) to purchase combined units of  
the company

Signed this                          day of                      2007.  Signature                                    assisted by  (if applicable)

Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.

 Hyprop Investments Limited 
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1 Each of Hyprop’s combined units comprises one ordinary share and one 
debenture. Certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders are 
therefore advised that they must complete a separate form of proxy for 
certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders and a separate 
form of proxy for certificated and own-name dematerialised debenture 
holders in order for their vote/s to be valid. The form of proxy for  
certificated and own-name dematerialised debenture holders is set out 
on page 55 of the annual report.

2 This form of proxy is to be completed only by those members who are:

 • holding ordinary shares in certificated form; or 
• recorded in the sub-register in electronic form in their “own-name”.

3 Each shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (none of 
whom need to be a shareholder of the company) to attend, speak and 
vote in place of that shareholder at the annual general meeting.

4 Shareholders that are certificated or own-name dematerialised shareholders 
may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternate proxies  
of the shareholder’s choice in the space/s provided, with or without  
deleting “the chairperson of the general meeting”, but any such deletion 
must be initialled by the shareholders. The person whose name stands 
first on the form of proxy and who is present at the annual general  
meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those  
whose names follow. If no proxy is named on a lodged form of proxy,  
the chairperson shall be deemed to be appointed as the proxy.

5 A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the  
insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable by the shareholder 
in the appropriate box provided. Failure to comply with the above will be 
deemed to authorise the proxy, in the case of any proxy other than the 
chairperson, to vote or abstain from voting as deemed fit and in the case 
of the chairperson to vote in favour of the resolution.

6 A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes  
exercisable by the shareholder, but the total of the votes cast or  
abstained from may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable in  
respect of the ordinary shares held by the shareholder.

7 Forms of proxy must be lodged at, posted or faxed to the transfer  
secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Proprietary)  
Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (PO Box 
61051, Marshalltown 2107), to be received at least 48 hours prior to the  
meeting.

8 The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the 
relevant shareholder from attending the annual general meeting and 
speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy  
appointed in terms hereof, should such shareholder wish to do so. Where 
there are joint holders of ordinary shares, the vote of the first joint holder 
who tenders a vote as determined by the order in which the names stand 
in the register of shareholders, will be accepted.

9 Where there are joint holders of any ordinary shares, only that holder 
whose name appears first in the register in respect of such shares needs 
sign this form of proxy.

10 The chairperson of the annual general meeting may reject or accept any 
form of proxy which is completed and/or received otherwise than in  
accordance with these notes, provided that, in respect of acceptances, 
the chairperson is satisfied as to the manner in which the shareholder 
concerned wishes to vote.

11 Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this 
form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached to this form 
of proxy unless previously recorded by the company or Computershare 
Investor Services 2004 (Proprietary) Limited or waived by the chairperson 
of the annual general meeting.

12 Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled 
by the signatory/ies.

13 A minor must be assisted by his/her parent/ guardian unless the  
relevant documents establishing his/her legal capacity are produced  
or have been registered by Computershare Investor Services 2004  

(Proprietary) Limited.
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Hyprop Investments Limited
Registration number 1987/005284/06
(“Hyprop” or “the company”)
Share code: HYP 
ISIN code: ZAE 000003430

Each of Hyprop’s combined units comprises one ordinary share and one debenture. Certificated and own-name dematerialised debenture holders 
are therefore advised that they must complete a separate form of proxy for certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders and a separate 
form of proxy for certificated and own-name dematerialised debenture holders in order for their vote/s to be valid. The form of proxy for certificated 
and own-name dematerialised shareholders is set out on page 53 of the annual report.

This form of proxy is for use by the holders of the company’s certificated debentures and/or dematerialised debentures held through a Central Securities 
Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker who have selected own-name registration and who cannot attend but wish to be represented at the annual general 
meeting of the company at the offices of Hyprop, 3rd Floor, North Wing, Hyde Park Shopping Centre, Jan Smuts Avenue, Sandton, or any adjournment if 
required. Additional forms of proxy are available at the company’s registered office.

Not for the use by dematerialised debenture holders who have not selected own-name registration. Such debenture holders must contact their CSDP or 
broker timeously if they wish to attend and vote at the annual general meeting and request that they be issued with the necessary authorisation to do so, or 
provide the CSDP or broker timeously with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend the annual general meeting but wish to be represented 
thereat, in order for the CSDP or broker to vote in accordance with their instructions.

For use at the annual general meeting on Tuesday, 12 June 2007 at 10:00 (or immediately after the conclusion of the shareholders’ meeting, whichever is 
the later).

I/We      (Name in block letters)

of          (Address)

being the registered holder of            debentures hereby

appoint:   of   

or failing him/her,  of 

or failing him/her, the chairperson of the general meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the  
company to be held on Tuesday, 12 June 2007 at 10:00 and at any adjournment thereof.

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces how you wish your votes to be cast. Unless this is done the proxy will vote as he/she thinks fit.

     In favour of Against Abstain

Debenture Resolution 1
To place the unissued combined units under the control of directors

Debenture Resolution 2
General authority to enable the company to issue for cash up to 5% of the authorised 
but unissued combined units

Debenture Resolution 3
General authority to enable the company (or any subsidiary) to purchase combined 
units of the company

Debenture Resolution 4
To authorise the signature of documentation

Signed this                          day of                      2007.  Signature                                    assisted by  (if applicable)

Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.
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1 Each of Hyprop’s combined units comprises one ordinary share and 
one debenture. Certificated and own-name dematerialised debenture 
holders are therefore advised that they must complete a separate form 
of proxy for certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders and 
a separate form of proxy for certificated and own-name dematerialised 
debenture holders in order for their vote/s to be valid. The form of proxy 
for certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders is set out on 
page 53 of the annual report.

2  This form of proxy is to be completed only by those members who are:

 • holding debentures in certificated form; or 
• recorded in the sub-register in electronic form in their “own-name”.

3 Each debenture holder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies  
(none of whom need to be a debenture holder of the company) to attend, 
speak and vote in place of that debenture holder at the annual general 
meeting.

4 Debenture holders that are certificated or own-name dematerialised  
debenture holders may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two  
alternate proxies of the debenture holder’s choice in the space/s provided, 
with or without deleting “the chairperson of the general meeting”, but 
any such deletion must be initialled by the debenture holders. The person 
whose name stands first on the form of proxy and who is present at the 
annual general meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion 
of those whose names follow. If no proxy is named on a lodged form of 
proxy, the chairperson shall be deemed to be appointed as the proxy.

5 A debenture holder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the 
insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable by the debenture 
holder in the appropriate box provided. Failure to comply with the above 
will be deemed to authorise the proxy, in the case of any proxy other than 
the chairperson, to vote or abstain from voting as deemed fit and in the 
case of the chairperson to vote in favour of the resolution.

6 A debenture holder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes 
exercisable by the debenture holder, but the total of the votes cast or 
abstained from may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable in 
respect of the debentures held by the debenture holder.

7 Forms of proxy must be lodged at, posted or faxed to the transfer 

secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Proprietary) 

Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001 (PO Box 

61051, Marshalltown 2107) to be received at least 48 hours prior to the 

meeting.

8 The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the 

relevant debenture holder from attending the annual general meeting 

and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy 

appointed in terms hereof, should such debenture holder wish to do so. 

Where there are joint holders of debentures, the vote of the first joint 

holder who tenders a vote as determined by the order in which the names 

stand in the register of debenture holders, will be accepted.

9 Where there are joint holders of any debentures, only that holder whose 

name appears first in the register in respect of such debentures needs 

sign this form of proxy.

10 The chairperson of the annual general meeting may reject or accept any 

form of proxy which is completed and/or received otherwise than in 

accordance with these notes, provided that, in respect of acceptances, 

the chairperson is satisfied as to the manner in which the debenture 

holder concerned wishes to vote.

11 Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this 

form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached to this form 

of proxy unless previously recorded by the company or Computershare 

Investor Services 2004 (Proprietary) Limited or waived by the chairperson 

of the annual general meeting.

12 Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled 

by the signatory/ies.

13 A minor must be assisted by his/her parent/ guardian unless the relevant 

documents establishing his/her legal capacity are produced or have 

been registered by Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Proprietary) 

Limited.
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NATURE OF BUSINESS

Hyprop is a professionally managed JSE-
listed property loan stock company specialising  
in prime shopping centres which account  
for 94% of its total investment property. 
Hyprop provides investors with access to 
quality retail ownership and distributes all  
its income on a semi-annual basis.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

Hyprop focuses on premium retail property 
investments providing investors with sustained 
income and capital growth. The group is committed 
to delivering superior investment returns through  
active asset management. 

Hyprop will continue to target new investment 
opportunities that will contribute to long-term 
growth in the portfolio while disposing of non-
strategic assets.

Registered office and business address
3rd Floor, North Block, Hyde Park Shopping Centre

Jan Smuts Avenue, Sandton 2196
PO Box 41257, Craighall 2024

Tel: +27 11 325 4340
Fax:+27 11 325 5196

Website: www.hyprop.co.za

Registration number: 1987/005284/06

Company secretary
Probity Business Services (Proprietary) Limited 

3rd Floor, JHI House, 11 Craddock Avenue, Rosebank 2196
PO Box 85392, Emmarentia 2029

Independent auditors
Grant Thornton (Member firm of Grant Thornton International)

137 Daisy Street, cnr Grayston Drive
Sandton 2196

Private Bag X28, Benmore 2010

Corporate advisors and sponsors
Java Capital (Proprietary) Limited

2 Arnold Road, Rosebank 2196
PO Box 2087, Parklands 2121

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Proprietary) Limited

Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg 2001

PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107

Trustee for debenture holders
Webber Wentzel Bowens

10 Fricker Road, Illovo Boulevard
Johannesburg 2196

PO Box 61771, Marshalltown 2107

Commercial bankers
The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited
1st Floor, 30 Baker Street, Rosebank 2196 

PO Box 8786, Johannesburg 2000 

ABSA Bank Limited
Palazzo Towers West, Monte Casino Boulevard

Fourways 2055
PO Box 782991, Sandton 2146 

ADMINISTRATION

Canal Walk, Century City Cape Town
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13 YEARS OF  
CONSECUTIVE GROWTH
5 shopping centres in prime locations  
326 900m2 of lettable area under management
R5,6 billion market capitalisation 
R6,7 billion total portfolio value
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